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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

RESULTS
The Group recorded a loss of HK$9 million for the year ended

31st March, 2017, compared to a profit attributable to owners of
HK$68 million for the previous year. Revenue was approximately
HK$1,446 million,

previous year.

a decrease of 11% compared with the

The setback in the Group’s performance was mainly attributable
to: (i) reduction in the quantity and pricing of orders by major
customers in the face of weakened market sentiment amidst
more intensified competition in the printing and packaging
sector; (ii) contraction in the operational efficiency of the
Group’s eastern China operation as a result of management
reshuffle and personnel changes; (iii) impairment provision for
the equipment of the Group’s Suzhou plant; and (iv) rising price

of paper affected the Group’s profit margins.

The Group’s sales to the United States and Asian markets
recorded a decline. With the exception of paper products and
greeting cards, all major product categories of the Group posted
weaker sales. Moreover, the Group encountered softer pricing of
orders as customers took a more cautious stance in light of the

sluggish retail sentiment.

On the operational side, the Group’s eastern China operation
experienced a management reshuffle and personnel changes
which caused major interruption to the operational efficiency
and sales results of the Suzhou plant. Nonetheless, following the
strengthening actions taken by the new management team, the
eastern China operation managed to narrow its loss for the full

year compared to the loss it recorded in the first half.

Notwithstanding the setback in sales, the Group made progress
in expanding its source of revenue during the year. Team Green,
the Group’s eco-friendly design products brand operating the
brand

manufacturing (OBM) businesses, expanded its product lines and

original design manufacturing (ODM) and original

distribution network.

Internally, the Group is implementing lean management
programme with full force to take advantage of the opportunities
presented by the Chinese government’s “Made in China 2025”
plan. The Group is also preparing for Industry 4.0 (the fourth
industrial revolution) by implementing Enterprise Resource
Planning (ERP) and Manufacturing Execution Systems (MES).
Stringent control on capital expenditure and customer credit
policy is adopted as a safeguard against risks. Details of these
measures are described in the “Business Review and Prospects”

section.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

DIVIDENDS

In order to retain resources for the Group’s future development,
the Directors do not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31st March, 2017 (2016: HK1 cent and special dividend of
HKO.5 cent per share). An interim dividend of HK1 cent (2016:
HK1 cent) was paid for the six months ended 30th September,
2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

Retail sales in major markets deteriorated in the second half of
the financial year, with consumer prices further weakened. In
light of this, customers from different sectors became more
cautious, placing less orders at more rigid prices. At the same
time, competition among printing and packaging companies
further intensified. Under the circumstances, whilst the Group
strived to maintain its market share and profitability, the Group
suffered a decline in revenue with a loss attributable to owners
incurred for the year ended 31st March, 2017.

Another major factor affecting the Group’s performance during
the year was the management reshuffle and personnel changes
in the Group’s eastern China operation which coincided with the
high single-digit rise in minimum wages taking place at the
Suzhou plant in June 2016. As a result, the eastern China
operation recorded lower sales, lower efficiency and higher
production costs. Following the strengthening actions taken by
the new management team, the performance of the Suzhou plant
improved in the second half. Nevertheless, a significant loss was

still incurred by the eastern China operation on a full year basis.

In addition, the price of paper increased during the year. This
coupled with the lower pricing of orders led to a reduction in

the Group’s profit margins.

Against these challenges, the Group has been taking measures to
Internally, the Group is
(ERP) and

Manufacturing Execution Systems (MES) to further integrate its

increase sales and profitability.

implementing Enterprise Resource Planning

manufacturing, purchasing, sales, and accounting functions.

Ongoing lean management programme, comprising the

streamlining of workflow, intelligent automation and value stream

mapping,
operational efficiency and reduce the wastage of resources.

are extended to more subsidiaries to increase
Financial and cash flow management systems are being
strengthened to ensure resources are properly allocated, in
particular those on capital investment and customer credit

control.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Spearheading the original design manufacturing (ODM) and
original brand manufacturing (OBM) businesses, Team Green, the
Group’s eco-friendly design products brand, has broadened its
variety of products and expanded its distribution network during
the year, with more selling points developed in Japan, Hong
Kong, ASEAN, China, Europe and the United States. Team Green
is also utilizing its design capability to provide ODM services to

major enterprises with hit movie icons.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited, a
newly-formed subsidiary, is developing the intelligent automation
business. The subsidiary researches, designs and develops
custom-made machinery and automated equipment primarily for
the Group’s internal use currently with the potential of selling

them to external parties.

Taking a long-term view, the management has adopted the
strategy of “Innovation, Unconventional View, Embrace Change
and Move Forward” by expanding its source of revenue across
and beyond the “Five Major Blocks”, namely: (i) proprietary
(ii) packaging
including luxury packaging and specialty printing; (iii) children’s
books and greeting cards; (iv) the ODM and OBM businesses;

products with confidentiality undertakings;

and (v) intelligent automation. The Group will prioritize the
allocation of resources to these five blocks based on their
growth potential and the management is hopeful that such long-

term strategy will benefit the Group’s sustainable growth.

Southern China Operation
The Group’s southern China operation recorded a significant

decline in profit for the year ended 31st March, 2017.

Paper products and greeting cards generated more sales marked
by an increase in orders for children’s books. However, sales of
the printing and packaging division dropped with orders from
the toys and technology sectors declining. Sales of packaging

and luxury boxes decreased as retail sales weakened.

The profit margins of the southern China operation were also
reduced as customers pressed for lower prices for orders due to
sluggish market sentiment, while more intensified competition in

the printing and packaging industry put pressure on pricing.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Against this setback, Team Green, the Group’s eco-friendly
design products brand, recorded a growth in sales during the
year. It has expanded its product range, covering 3D paper
puzzles and 3D wooden puzzles, winning the Hong Kong Smart
Gifts Design Awards contest with two of its Jigzle© Wooden
Puzzles. Team Green has also collaborated with world-famous
brands providing them OEM and ODM services and is actively
building up its profile by attending shows and exhibitions.
Internet sales of the Team Green products are launched through
GreenTaNet.com, the Group’s e-business platform, and other

online stores.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited, the
newly-formed subsidiary spearheading the intelligent automation
business, has also made progress by strengthening cooperation
with scientific research institutions and universities in Mainland
China and overseas, on areas ranging from semi-automation to
full automation, paving the way for the Group’s development of

production service centers catering for the consumer market.

Moving forward, the southern China operation will apply
intelligent automation and value stream mapping to increase its
cost efficiency. It will actively develop other sectors besides the
toys industry to expand its clientele. These sectors include the
food, cosmetics and information technology sectors to which the

Group is expanding its luxury packaging business.

Eastern China Operation

The eastern China operation recorded less sales and a significant
loss during the year under review, as the management reshuffle
with personnel changes adversely affected its sales and marketing
as well as operational efficiency. Strong competition among
printing and packaging companies in the Yangtze River Delta
and high labour costs also had a negative impact on the eastern

China operation.

Sales dropped across all divisions of the eastern China operation
during the year. Specialty printing reported the highest sales
decline, followed by the printing and packaging division and the

greeting cards business.

Nonetheless, following the strengthening actions taken by the
new management team, the performance of the Suzhou plant
improved in the second half of the year. Moving forward, the
eastern China operation will continue to target multinational
customers and established Chinese enterprises and enlarge its
clientele in growth sectors to reinforce its leading position and

enhance its profitability.

ETE®RE

B AIEM(ODM) R BRI (OBM) EBF A E BTt -
SEBI R HIRRE R M Team GreenX Y15 #h
ERRY BMrEReRYEAHERIEBAHE -
EHRWIE JigzZleORPEREBIEEEEERRE K
EJ o Team GreenHith FRAZ @I E 1F - B FIIEH
A ER 1 338 (OEM) M B &l E G2 (ODM) IR 7%+ I 7% 152
ﬂbul?azﬁ”AﬂJ?éiﬁ EIRE R M OBM 85 @ [
i 3 38 GreenTaNet.com & Efth 48 F RiEHETM 5 4

ﬁﬂl

SEFRINMBE ARG 2 EERHERID
BRIAF - BERBEBER 1%%71& FABRGER -
N 5% B2 [ g SR R4 RE R K 22 e
i@@)ﬂi'ﬁ%f?ﬁE%EF/L\EEL‘/ﬁ%Fhi’oﬂ’EHlJiHﬂL?E
1 e

REARK EHEBREEMREEAIL
BERRS  ZEETKRAYRE - if‘ﬂ%%ﬂ?%%
BRERITAZENIINTE BERGA LHANME
AMBRES  RAAELEEPMAEEBRERS -

ERRE

EEFEAN EREBHETRILKCSHEEBE -
HINBMEEESRAAESZESHMEM HHERLE
MEmmRKmE - I RITI=ZAMNEKDREZEF
B SPRAFE LT HEREBETRABY

@ .
EREREBHEDRETHK - BIRDFI XK KIE
BE BRHOBEEREBHRERAERD -

BEEFNEEEBRERSE  BMNRETFFERM
KE - RERK EREBHEERINZEEAEND
F‘Jﬁ%ﬁ’\]%%iﬁzﬁ*L‘AE’-‘I%@&EFIfEEﬁ%?%
REER EEARERENNTERNNNRE
BHWERAH -

13



14

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Southeast Asia Operation

The southeast Asia operation recorded a decline both in revenue
and profit during the year under review. The setback was due to
realignment of product range by major clients, strong competition
in the printing and packaging industry across the region, and the
depreciation of Singapore dollar and Malaysian ringgit against the
United States dollar.

To improve its performance, the southeast Asia operation will
utilize the Group’s intelligent automation technology to increase
its competitive advantages. Moreover, it will strive to expand its
sales and customer base. Such efforts include further penetration
in markets such as Australia, New Zealand and ASEAN countries,
and exploring the feasibility of developing the ODM and OBM
businesses.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st
March, 2017, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-term
bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$264 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$8 million compared to

approximately HK$10 million recorded last year.

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group had a working capital surplus
of approximately HK$243 million compared to a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$222 million as at 31st March, 2016.
The Group was in net cash position as at 31st March, 2017 and
31st March, 2016. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31st March,
2017 was 34% (2016 :

bank borrowings, bill payables and shareholders’ funds of

36%), based on short-term and long-term

approximately HK$544 million.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2017, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$11 million
(31st March, 2016: HK$29 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively stable
due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The Renminbi-
denominated sales revenue helps to set off the Group’s
commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating expenses in
Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi exchange rate
exposure. Transaction values involving Euro were primarily

related to the Group’s purchase of machinery.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has approximately 6,000 employees. The

Group maintains good relationships with its employees, providing
them with competitive packages, incentive schemes as well as
various training programmes. The Group has maintained a Share
Option Scheme under which share options can be granted to
certain employees (including executive directors and non-
executive director of the Company (excluding independent non-
executive directors)) as incentive for their contribution to the
Group. The Group provides various training and development
programmes to staff on an ongoing basis. The Group will explore
the possibility of launching other special training programmes
with universities in Mainland China and education institutions

abroad to enhance its staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for young
people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:

— Donation to Jiaying University

— Donation to Polar Museum Foundation

— Donation to China Star Light Charity Fund Association
— Support to Scout Association of Hong Kong

— The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) REPORT

During the year, the Group has established an environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) management team to manage,
monitor, recommend and report on environmental and social
aspects. An ESG report is being prepared with reference to
Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and will be published on the Company’s website (http:/www.
hkstarlite.com) within three months after the publication of this

annual report.

LOOKING AHEAD
In its World Economic Outlook report published in April 2017,

the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) raised its projection for
2017 global growth to 3.5 percent, up from its recently forecast
3.4 percent, while maintaining its 2018 forecast at 3.6 percent.
However, the IMF warned that “the upgrade to our 2017 forecast
is modest, and longer-term potential growth rates remain
subdued across the globe compared with past decades,
especially in advanced economies---significant downside risks
continue to cloud the medium-term outlook.” The report said
“one salient threat is a turn toward protectionism, leading to
trade warfare. Mainly in advanced economies, several factors:-
have generated political support for zero-sum policy approaches
that could undermine international trading relationships, along

with multilateral cooperation more generally.”
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

While the IMF’s positive forecast on world economic growth is
encouraging, the management believes that the year ahead will
remain highly challenging given the threat of protectionism and
the fragility and volatility in consumer confidence. Capitalising
on its strategy of “Innovation, Unconventional View, Embrace
Change and Move Forward”, the Group will continue to develop
the business of Team Green and Larsemann Intelligence System
actively so as to upgrade and diversify itself and to embrace
Industry 4.0. Internally, the Group is adhering to its “deepening
and streamlining” initiatives to reform its operations and increase
their competitive advantages, including the further
implementation of Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) and
Manufacturing Execution Systems (MES) to strengthen the
integration of its manufacturing, purchasing, sales, and
accounting functions. The performance of the Suzhou plant has
improved in the second half of the year as the new management
team adopted strengthening actions. With the stabilization of its
sales and operating efficiency, the Suzhou plant is in a good
position to make further improvement in a gradual manner. The
management remains confident about the Group’s long-term
growth in spite of the temporary setback in its performance and

is actively implementing the measures.
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On behalf of the Board

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th June, 2017
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

In the blink of an eye, another year has gone by and the
Chairman’s Statement for 2016/17 is set to be published. Amidst
a tight schedule departing Hong Kong for the United States, | am
writing my annual letter to shareholders in the high sky above
the Pacific Ocean, reviewing and reporting briefly our work

progress and plans during the year.

Like similar efforts of the previous years, this western trip to the
United States strives to reinforce and deepen our relationships
with old customers, and to develop and bring in new ones. We
also seek to evaluate the market at close distance and to
understand the market needs for services and products, so as to
generate more fuels for our strategy of “Innovation,

Unconventional View, Embrace Change and Move Forward”.

2016/17 was the year when our target markets including Europe
and the United States held presidential elections which brought
great political and economic uncertainties. In fact, Britain and
the United States both experienced “black swans”, highlighting
the rampant opposition to globalization. China has just awakened
from the illusive dream of “forsaking the real economy in favour
of the virtual economy”. Rigid control is now exercised on bank
credit, hindering market operation, and enterprises are facing

more challenges than opportunities.

Under these circumstances, the Group experienced a significant
decline in revenue during the year under review. Moreover, there
was management reshuffle with personnel changes in the
Group’s Suzhou plant which adversely affected the sales
performance and operational efficiency of the Group’s eastern
China operation. Impairment provision was also made for the
equipment of the Group’s Suzhou plant. Such factors resulted in

a loss recorded by the Group during the year.

After years of practising and honing, Starlite people are
becoming increasingly mature. New staff members joining the
team are also willing to accept challenges; both their knowledge
and abilities have been enhanced. Capitalising on the state’s
“Made in China 2025” plan, the Group’s subsidiaries implement
lean management with full force and gain various degrees of
success. Good professional managers bring handsome benefits to
the Company and they in turn obtain rich rewards for themselves
and their subordinates. This has further illustrated the superiority

of the reward system.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

After years of investment, our fourth business block Team Green
is vigorously accelerating its brand building and market
expansion. More original products are created for consumers,
with second-design merchandise on major movie characters
created for film publishers to secure a larger market share and
enable consumers to enjoy superb value. Our fifth business
block Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System is strengthening co-
operation with scientific research institutions and universities in
Mainland China and overseas, on areas ranging from semi-
automation to full automation and intelligence, paving way for
the development of production service centers catering for the
consumer market, and moving towards a practical use Robot

company that opens up a new global business.

I deeply believe that with the Government’s strong leadership,
the dedicated effort of the Board of Directors, the adherence to
“One Belt One Road” development, the co-operation of Starlite
people at all levels, and the support of shareholders, banks,
suppliers and the community, we will be able to generate good
results in 2017/18.

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th June, 2017
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue
Operating profit

(Loss)/profit for the year
attributable to the
owners of the

Company
Dividends

Basic (losses)/earnings
per share attributable
to the owners of the

Company (HK cents)

MBEREE

meWaER

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZHA=+—HLEFE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—tF ZEZE—F_F ZE—RF ZT—HNF ZT—=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT FAT FAET FAT
/N 1,445,870 1,620,364 1,591,655 1,456,556 1,427,544
1 m F 20,622 101,878 19,391 36,875 27,849
FARRAHEEA
ek (E58),/
il
(9,184) 68,112 2,651 15,057 9,357
A% B2 5,251 13,128 5,251 13,128 10,502
NATER ANES
BREXEE)
SBR GEI)
(1.75) 12.97 0.50 2.87 1.78




FINANCIAL SUMMARY

POSITION

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less

current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

HERE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL mEemBRR R

As at As at As at As at As at

31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

R-B—+tF WZT—RF RKRZZT—HF RZT—OF KRZIT—=F

=A=+-8 =ZA=+—-H =ZA=+—H =ZA=+—H =A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET FAT FAT FAT

EREEE 380,787 406,922 450,882 489,512 477,184
MEBEE 657,727 684,396 602,975 608,195 583,359
mEBE (414,647) (462,755) (444,429) (450,948) (473,543)
MEEEFE 243,080 221,641 158,546 157,247 109,816
MBI AE 623,867 628,563 609,428 646,759 587,000
EREBEE (79,970) (38,730) (72,485) (87,997) (25,773)
EEFE 543,897 589,833 536,943 558,762 561,227
S BEE 543,897 589,833 536,943 558,762 561,227

Total equity
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for
the year ended 31st March, 2017.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out

in Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Business review

A review of the business of the Group during the year as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) are covered in different sections of this annual report
as set out below, which shall form part of this Report of the

Directors.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development since the Group’s
business, can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and

Chairman’s Letter set out on pages 7 to 19.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that its
operations comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations. A
senior management committee of the Company is delegated by
the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and practices for
achieving compliance with legal and other regulatory
requirements, and such policies and practices are regularly
reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees

and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all
material respects with laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the Group’s business and operations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2017, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 39% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 20%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 13% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 6% of the

Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder (which,
to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in

the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Relationship with stakeholders

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and

enhancing co-operation with its business partners.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2017 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

60 of this annual report.

The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK1 cent
per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$5,251,000, which
was paid on 22nd February, 2017.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2017, and recommend
that the Group’s retained profits of approximately
HK$321,594,000 be carried forward.

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 24 and 25,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Notes 26 and 32(b) to the accompanying

financial statements.

As at 31st March, 2017, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$20,200,000 was available for distribution to

the Company’s shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2017.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in Note 15 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank borrowings
Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March, 2017 are set out

in Notes 21 and 29 to the accompanying financial statements.

Pension scheme
Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statement.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$825,000 (2016: HK$1,185,000).

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date

of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman)

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles (Senior Vice President)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 85s, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

BE -LEIEE KD
ARRREEANBRAARBE-T—t5=f
TH-HEFEYERE  HEXBELATAARA
LR

BEBRE
ARARMB R BREZLBER T EEBRIE K

Eo
oA °

Bt 2 A
MEBARZFBRNBEN 2 MBHmRM 6 -

ME BERRE
FAME BELRKBZE
AR

FHBRRBENZ 3%

BITEE
RZE—+tFE=ZA=+—8 RTBREZHFBEN
W& BT 2 B %5 R 3R BT 5E21 %29 ©

RIS
RSB 2B NBEN 2 M BRI o -

ZERBN
R A% BB H 48250008 T(Z T — XN F
1,185,000 ) 2 R IBIEE S AR -

ESREERBEN
RAFERBEAFRTEAZECESR:

BITES
e )
MEEELE (BRI
REKRFTLE(EREEEH)

FHUTESE
BRI

BIYFHITES

PR K S

UNE, s A THL
EBHIELE



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, not less than
one-third of the directors will be retire from office by rotation at
the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Ms. Yeung Chui
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for

re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Changes in information of directors
The change in the information of directors of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of

the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Wisdom Education International Holdings

Company Limited with effect from 3rd January, 2017.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, P
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.
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Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2017, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Name of Director Capacity
3 5t
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner RahE

Beneficial owner and interest of ERBEER
controlled corporation

Ms. Yeung Chui

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus Interest of spouse REER

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles Beneficial owner EnlAB

Note:

1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2017, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 15th August, 2012 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 6th
September, 2002 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply

with the current statutory requirements. The Company may grant

B IR RE AT 8
ARAFA-ZE-ZF)/\A+ T BN ERE
FEI (BRI DUABMRR-_ZEZT_FNARA
Rz st 8 (TEBRES 8D AR AR
ZOEFEENK - ARRR AR EE R EI PR 2
ATETRRE -

options to the participants as set out in the New Share Option

Scheme.

Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1.

3.

Purpose of the New Share Option
Scheme

RSB

. Participants of the New Share Option

Scheme

MEREGIN2EAL

Total number of shares available for issue
under the New Share Option Scheme
and percentage of issued share capital as
at the date of the annual report

REHBARES BT ETROLERR
AEHRABREEHITRABALL

iR BB EAT

To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares.

RZEANTREBRSARRMERZHES
REREBRDZEE -

WHESEALTHAERER

(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; and

(ii) Any executive director and non-executive director (excluding
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or of any
subsidiary.

(i) ARBKEMBLAZEZBES X

(i) RABREMBRAR ZATEERFATEE (TREBLFNTES) -

The Company may initially grant options representing 52,513,528 shares
under the New Share Option Scheme (i.e. approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the approval of the New
Share Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme if that will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

REFERE S ARRYVIH AR THN52,513,528 8 B0 (15 AR R
RN B RS B2 2 BITRANI0%) 2 B E -

REBEARBRK 2T BREA S REFMEMER TR ERITEZBR
BETERMAZTZENER Z2BETSEB TR EHTRNZ30% -
AR BT BB AT 3R TR AE S 2 BiB30% LR - AR TRBRE -
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4. Maximum entitlement of each participant

under the New Share Option Scheme

BU2EATRENBRETBITRE
B & = BUAR

. The period within which the shares must

be taken up under an option

RIFEBRAEERER O N HR

. The minimum period for which an

option must be held before it can be
exercised

ARTTE AR5 A BN RIEHR

. The amount payable on application or

acceptance of the option and the period
within which payments or calls must or
may be made or loans for such purposes
must be paid

B EA BN 8N R
FBANKOARKEERFERER
RH) B RR

. The basis of determining the exercise

price

BETEENERE

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the New Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company in any 12 month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

BENERBEAZUARARR 2EMNEMEREAE TR+ =E
HEA mtu/AAi%%ﬁk%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁh%@ﬁEﬁE&h%
TEZERE)EZRTRETETZRMAE T EBBEHTRMHEE
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Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or grant of the
option.

BEERERERTZAR N SEBBTF -

An option may be exercised at any time during a period commencing on
the expiry of 6 calendar months after the date of grant of the option, but
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant.
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The amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$10 and an offer
shall remain open for acceptance by the participant for a period of 28 days
from the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that
participant.
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The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; or

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or

(i) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.
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9. The remaining life of the New Share
Option Scheme

7 8 TR 5T )0 ) 24 29 R
% o

During the year, no share option was granted under the New

Share Option scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its other associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable any of the
Company’s directors, chief executive of the Company (including
the spouse and children under 18 years old) or members of its
management, or its specified undertakings, to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or other associated companies.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 30 to the accompanying financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding companies was a
party and in which any of the Company’s directors or members
of its management had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during

the year.

Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2017, no shareholder (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) had interest or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2017.

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the adoption date i.e. 15th August, 2012.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-Executive

Directors of the Company.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular
basis and making recommendations to the Board regarding any

proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 20 and 21 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 32 to 46 of the annual

report.

Management contracts

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31st March, 2017.
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Employee and remuneration policies

The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
to their strength and development potential. The Group
determined the remuneration packages of all employees (including
the Directors) with reference to individual performance and

current market rate.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him or
her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in
relation thereto pursuant to the Company Bye-laws. Such
provisions were in force during the course of the financial year
ended 31st March, 2017 and remained in force as of the date of
this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its

directors and officers.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th June, 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in the
interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate governance
practices of the Company during the year ended 31st March,
2017 and significant events after that date and up to the date of
this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2017.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance
framework, and there is clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the Management. The Board is responsible for
providing high-level guidance and effective oversight of the

Management. Generally, the Board is responsible for:

J formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

. reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

o approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

J ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

. monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has seven members, comprising three
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Independent Non-
Executive Directors represented more than one-third of the Board
members, thus exhibiting a strong independent element which
enhanced independent judgement. Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny,
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company is a
practicing CPA in Hong Kong and possesses appropriate
professional qualifications and financial management expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. A list containing the names,
roles and functions of Directors is published on the websites of
the Group and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the
“HKEX").

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2017, four full Board
meetings and the 2016 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were
held with an average attendance rate of 96% and 86%

respectively, details of which are presented below:
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Board Meetings

Board Members Attended/Held 2016 AGM
Exzgex —E-RE

EzgmE HE BT BRREFAE

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board) MrWMEE(EEFSEE) 4/4 v

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus BEBELEE 4/4 v

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles RAEMK LA 4/4 v

Non-Executive Director FHITES

Ms. Yeung Chui BRLL 3/4 v

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRAA S S 4/4 v

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P SRR - e A FM T 4/4 —

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B 4/4 v

Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the Board
at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved by the
Chairman following consultation with other Board members.
Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched to all Board

members in a timely manner.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters. They are also encouraged to take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in performance of
their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the Directors are
covered by the Directors’” & Officers’ Liability Insurance, which

is also part of our best practices.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
in the same person would allow the Company to be more
effective and efficient in developing long-term business strategies
and execution of business plans. The Board believes that the
balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operation of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision A.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) without the
executive Directors present. As Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the
Chairman of the Company, is also an executive Director of the

Company, this code provision is not applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her retirement
from the Company. Ms. Yeung has not been appointed for a
specific term as she is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

. provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
. serve on committees if invited; and

. scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.
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The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company or
its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member of
any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company and considers all of
them to be independent having regard to (i) their annual
confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules, (ii) the absence of involvement in the daily management
of the Company and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their

independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s,
yp-and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny have served as Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more than 9 vyears.
In addition to their confirmation of independence in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan, Mr. Kwok and Mr.
Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes of an independent
non-executive director and there is no evidence that their tenure
have had any impact on their independence. The Directors are
of the opinion that Mr. Chan, Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam remain
independent notwithstanding the length of their service and
believe that their valuable knowledge and experience continue to
generate significant contribution to the Company and the

shareholders as a whole.

Appointments, re-election and removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.
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In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each AGM,
not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall retire at least once every three years.
The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election. New
appointments either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board are subject to re-election by shareholders of the

Company at the next following AGM.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The Non-Executive Directors of the Company have not been
appointed for a specific term as they are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the

Bye-laws of the Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /b was unable to
attend the AGM of the Company held on 12th August, 2016 as

he was engaged in other prior business commitments.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed and
relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had arranged
in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the Non-Executive
Director in form of seminar and provision of training materials.
In addition, the Company also provided regular updates to the
Directors in respect of the business and operations of the Group
through monthly reports; and the updates on the changes in
Listing Rules, Corporate Governance Code and related regulatory

requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken

by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members

Esgms

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MRS &
(Chairman of the Board) (BEFEEF/E)

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus MEBELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles SR & B S &

Non-Executive Director FHITES

Ms. Yeung Chui BRI+

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#8 S SE &

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 58S, P

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B IESEE

A. reading materials in relation to regulatory update

B. attending in-house training to update business development

C. attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop professional skill and
knowledge

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.

MWE - e mEs A FHT+
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Supply of and access to information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined terms
of reference (which are posted on website of the Group and the
HKEX), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee

and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its

duties and responsibilities.

Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st
March, 2017, three meetings were held, attendance of these

meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:
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Meetings
Remuneration Committee Members Attended/Held
FHEZEEKXE eBLEE £
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) BRI K T (F /) 3/3
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp SME - gnEE AFHt 3/3
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B IELE 3/3
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The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information it
requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2017.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$12,033,000 (2016:
HK$10,085,000), individual details of which are disclosed in
Note 10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and
senior management’s compensation including incentive bonus

shall be based on the corporate and individual performance.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and

Chairman of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is to assist the Board in overseeing
Board organization and senior management succession planning,
assessing the independence of non-executive directors, review of
the structure, size and composition of the Board. During the
year ended 31st March, 2017, one meeting was held, attendance
of the meeting held by the Nomination Committee is set out

below:
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Meeting
Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held
REZRENE SRHE BT
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp (Chairman) HBIME - wemes xvut (EE) 1/1
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PRAA S e 11
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MR NS 1/1
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B ERE 1/1
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI+ 1/1
Board Diversity Policy EEglES UL BE

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.
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The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the Policy
and diversity of the Board from time to time to ensure its

continued effectiveness and compliance with Listing Rules.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of all the three Independent

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2017.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 31st March, 2017 and was content that
the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance with the
generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong. It also
meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31st March, 2017, three
meetings were held, attendance of the meetings held by the

Audit Committee is set out below:
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Meetings
Audit Committee Members Attended/Held
EREEERE SRHE BT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) B ESE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PRAA S e 3/3
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp WIME - wgmes xFut 3/3

Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the function
to a senior management committee to perform the corporate
governance function. The scope of works of the committee

including the following:

J to review performance of the Group regularly;
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. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

J to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the financial statements on the going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company.

The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.

Risk management and internal control

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across

business operations.

. HERRIARBANERERRERER -
YREESGRHER:

. BMAREREERGREEAENZIRE
BEXRR:

. BMARERARBDEETEREREERES
EHBUR R HE M

. HE BMAREREEREENRTENR
ERFMAE) -

BEM%KEX

Bt 35 B 3
EEFEEREBEVRIRARREERATRBA
SEFBRAROAHBREARZHENEERE
ME ERBEZE_T—+tF=A=1+T—BLEFE
MEBEHRER BEFVARBEENSTBRRLE
BEBZEFSTRE RABENTEYBREE
ARFEGAEL FREEREEMAB MR
RESECEELERUVBHRR -EENARER
FEENGTLHE  UAREMNRBASBERT
AW EARRA R B AR MR o

ARAREBEAREFERERHEFENEREHN MU
HEAEENKRRE MBRAALAR REFEERE
TETRAABENEE

B EERRIBEE
AEENAREEEFIABEERGN T 2R
EABEWEDRIERE  BERLEFARZREH
BEIAREBE RS XH RGN R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the senior
management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The Board
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the overall
responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the
overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at least annually,
covering all material controls including financial, operational and

compliance controls.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Senior
Management identifies risks that would adversely affect the
achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and
prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then

established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and in performing the internal audit functions for
the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
internal controls are identified and recommendations are
proposed for improvement. Significant internal control
deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board
on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are

taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted
to the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. The
Board, through the Audit Committee, had performed annual
review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including but not limited to the Group’s
ability to cope with its business transformation and changing
external environment; the scope and quality of management’s
review on risk management and internal control systems; result
of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses
identified and their related implications; and status of compliance

with the Listing Rules.
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The Board considers the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems were effective and adequate during the year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has the Inside Information Policy which sets out
guidelines to the Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group would be disseminated
to the public in equal and timely manner in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PwC. During the year, remuneration of approximately
HK$2,796,000 was for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$344,000 was for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax compliance
and advisory services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Company Secretary of the
Company, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through
adherence to proper Board processes and the timely preparation
and dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas
and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes
are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any
Director upon request.
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The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
also responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to
Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the Company
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In response to
specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary confirmed that
he has complied with all the proposed qualifications, experience
and training requirements of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheung confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours
relevant professional training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority. Extensive
information about the Group'’s activities is provided in the annual
report and the interim report. The Group’s website provides
regularly updated Group information to shareholders. Enquiries
on matters relating to shareholdings and the business of the
Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner. The Group encourages all shareholders to attend
AGM. Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior to the date of
AGM.

The Company has established the Shareholders’” Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been posted

to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to

convene a special general meeting of the Company.
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Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or special general meeting (“SGM”)
are set out in the Company’s website. Shareholders may send
their enquires requiring the Board’s attention to the Company’s
principal place of business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial Building, 31
Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong or by e-mail to
enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the procedures for
convening or putting forward proposals at an AGM or SGM may

also be put to the Company by the same means.

The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws during the year ended 31st March,
2017. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws is posted on the

websites of the Company and HKEX.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Chi Shing, Charles
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 20th June, 2017
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 70, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman of the Board,
founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration (Distinguished Alumni
Awards) from the National University of Singapore. Mr. Lam has
been in community work in China and Hong Kong for many
years. He is a member of the Standing Committee of the 10th,
11th and the 12th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a director of Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association, a member of Selection Committee for the
Government of HKSAR and a committee member of the Election
Committee Subsector Elections, Chairman of Mainland Affairs
Committee of Scout Association of Hong Kong, Chairman of
Polar Museum Foundation, Director of Future Star, an Adjunct
Professor of College of Business of City University of Hong Kong
and Director of Guangzhou Jinan University. Mr. Lam has
received several prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs
Award 1990”, “Outstanding Achievements Award” of the “Hong
Kong Print Award 1999” and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the
government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2002. Mr. Lam has over 53 years’ experience in the printing
industry and takes charge of the overall planning, strategy and
development of the Group. He has made dedicated efforts to
enhance the transformation of Starlite, business diversification,
products development, OBM product, intelligent (automation)

systems and “Internet +” business in recent years.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 60, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since 1992. He is currently the Senior Vice
President and Chief Technical Officer of the Group. He has been
appointed as director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company. He graduated from the Graphics Art Department of
the Chinese Culture University of Taiwan in 1978 and has over
39 years’ experience in the printing industry. He is appointed as
one of ISO/TC130 Experts representing SAC/TC170 of China and
participating international printing standardization affairs. He is
also appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Packaging Printing
Technical Sub-Committee SAC/TC170/SC3.
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Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 61, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 2000, the Company Secretary
since 1999 and an Authorized Representative since 2011. He is
currently the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
the Group. Mr. Cheung joined the Group in early 1997 and is
responsible for the overall finance function of the Group. He has
been appointed as director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company. He has held various senior positions in finance,
accounting and auditing fields for more than 31 years. Mr.
Cheung graduated from The Hongkong Polytechnic University
and is an Associate Member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 70, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director to
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from Tst
September, 2011. She has over 50 years’ experience in the
printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 65, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan was the former
Chairman and is currently the non-executive director of the
publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong Kong. He
is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited,
an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pacific Textiles
Holdings Limited, Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited,
Modern Dental Group Limited, and Human Health Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a double major degree in
Sociology and Political Science, a Master degree in City Planning
from the University of Manitoba, an Honorary Doctorate Degree
in Business Administration, and is bestowed as Honorary Fellow
from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan currently serves on the
council of the Hong Kong Management Association, the adviser
of the Quality Tourism Services Association, as well as being
appointed by the HKSAR Government as a member of the
Business Facilitation Advisory Committee. Besides, he is also the
Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing and
the Chairman of the Business Enterprise Management Centre of
the Hong Kong Management Association. He has many years of
professional experience in the public sector and over 30 years’
managerial experience in the food and catering industry.
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Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 85s, jr, aged 61, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Kwok is a practicing
solicitor in Hong Kong. He is qualified to practise as a solicitor
in Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is also
qualified as a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia and a Chartered
Accountant in England and Wales. He graduated from the
University of Sydney, Australia with bachelor’s degrees in
economics and laws respectively as well as a master’s degree in
laws. He also obtained the Advanced Management Program

Diploma from the Harvard Business School.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 68, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Small and Medium Practitioners Committee in
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a Past President of The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent non-executive
director of certain listed companies on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely, CCT Fortis
Holdings Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited,
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited, West China Cement Limited,
BeijingWest Industries International Limited, CCT Land Holdings
Limited and Wisdom Education International Holdings Company
Limited.
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Senior Executives

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 54, is the Senior Vice President (Operations)
of the Group. He joined the Group in 1981 and was promoted
to the present position on 1st February, 2012. He is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s production bases in the PRC. He has
more than 35 years’ of experience in the printing and packaging

industry.

Mr. Lau Ching Wai, Peter, aged 40, is the Senior Vice President
(Marketing & Sales) of the Group and joined the Group in 2013.
Mr. Lau has over 17 years of experience in sales, marketing and
corporate management in various industries including printing,
banking, retail and IT. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Information Systems from the University of New South Wales
Australia. He puts his focus on data-driven marketing strategies

in order to enhance growth of the Company.

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, Derek, aged 39, is the Senior Vice
President (Finance) of the Group. He joined the Group in 2006
and was promoted to the present position on Tst April, 2016.
Mr. Poon graduated from The University of Hong Kong and
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration. He has
extensive experiences in auditing and accounting. He is an
Associate Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i
pwec

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Starlite Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on

pages 60 to 152, which comprise:

J the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
March, 2017;

J the consolidated income statement for the vyear then
ended;

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the

year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include a summary of significant accounting policies.
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. BEZRLFENGFARRR:

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31st March, 2017, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s  Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in

accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:

. Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment

and land use rights; and

. Provision for inventories obsolescence
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

Provision for impairment of property, plant and

equipment and land use rights

ME - BERRBEURLEEARZBRERE

Refer to Notes 4(a), 14, and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements

FLMRAMBEEM 4@ - 14R15

The Group has approximately HK$357,706,000 of
property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) and land use
rights (“LUR”) as at 31st March, 2017, of which
approximately HK$55,916,000 is related to the
Group’s production plant and machinery in Suzhou.
The Group’s Suzhou segment is a Cash Generating
Unit. Given the economic performance of the assets
in Suzhou was worse than expected due to the
deterioration in the operating efficiency and gross
margin resulting in a loss from operation, the
possibility of impairment of these assets is an area of
focus for management. Management assessed the
recoverable amount of the PP&E and LUR in Suzhou,
which is the higher of the asset’s value in use or fair
value less cost of disposal, and based on value in
use, an additional impairment charge of approximately
HK$10,000,000 is recognised in the current year.
EXEBR-_Z—+EF=A=T—"H0YVE KBELE#
BHWE - BERREB DAL b AT LmER
#1) 49 53357,706,0007%8 7T - H F #955,916,000/% JT £

EEERHNNEEREREREH - BEE
MEMNDHBR—EREELEM - ERHIMNEED
BERBAREERXRENTEZERELHR
MENEH  ZEEERENAEEREEENH
EEE - BEEEFGEHRMOME  BELRRBAL
T fE AN REEE NEENEREBEEIA
AEERLEERANRSE MEREREER &
F 2 SR EE MR E 7 3 #910,000,00078 7T ©

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS ONEERFAREGER

In assessing the appropriateness of management’s assessment of
the recoverable amount of the PP&E and LUR, we performed the
following procedures:

NABEEEFENDE BERFREARLHERENRK
CEEISERER  RFETTUTERF:

We evaluated management’s identification of the
impairment indicators by corroborating with supporting
evidence for the PP&E and LUR in Suzhou.

REBEMNOYE BERKBEURTHERENS - H M
HEB R X RER - B 5 IEEMH A /R E 1R
fTRE1E -

We involved our in-house valuation expert in assessing the
methodology of management’s impairment assessment
based on the value in use calculation and the key
assumptions used in the management’s impairment
assessment of the PP&E and LUR.
BMPRABEEERIHEEEREEREENED
BMEMGETAREEERDE BEEXREBEARLiE
RENREFGMEROERRR -
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

Provision for impairment of property, plant and

equipment and land use rights (continued)

ME BERREUARLBEREZREREE

Management determined the value in use of these
PP&E and LUR based on the future cash flow
generated by these assets.

EEERBERFEEMELANARRES REE T Z
EME BEMREAN L EAENEREE -

We focused on this area because judgemental factors
are involved in management’s impairment assessment
as the determination of the recoverable amount of the
PP&E and LUR is based on various key assumptions
and estimates in future budget such as growth of
sales, production costs, selling and administrative
expenses, capital expenditure etc. and discount rates
used in the cash flow forecast.

BMEERL - BREAREIEEOREN TR A E
MRZ KIHREEDE BERRKBUR L
ERAENATKREEERENZEBERBRLEHARRK
BERMGE > PINEE - EEKA - HERITRAN
BEAXHENER  RASREBFAUMEMANHERE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS ONEERFAREGER

. For value in use calculation, we assessed the
management’s impairment assessment based on the future
cash flow forecast, by comparing growth rate to the
underlying assumptions in the latest Board approved
budget and the discount rate to the cost of capital for the
Company and comparable organisations. We tested the
mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
management’s impairment assessment derived from the
forecast model and assessed key inputs in the calculations
by reference to management’s approved budget. We also
checked the key data of management’s approved budget
by reference to third parties information such as purchase
orders, and we assessed the historical reliability of the
budget.

. REREBEEMAEMS  HMEBEE BEAREWMEE=R
EHENBEFNHABEERNERTRESRANRE
REAGHBAMEE  KMAEERERBERRRES
MEFEAETHRENE RANATEREHBEAE
HESHERENFGEITNRBLERYE  Y2EEEEN
%m&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ”m%ﬁhkﬁf BT 2E RE
EZEE-FANREERENEETRENBEREE
WHFEBEENELASEE-

J We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions underlying management’s impairment
assessment based on the cash flow forecast by considering
the variables and fluctuations in those underlying key
assumptions.

. BHPTEBEEHBEARRINEEL LY HERE
REARRSAREFINETREFEOEEERRRE
TEREREDN -

We found that the key assumptions and estimates were
acceptable and the impairment charge based on value in use is
within an acceptable range in light of the current environment.
BN EXREMNERE BRERERGEFAIRES  MER
EREENRERXTEZEZEEZA -
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

Provision for inventories obsolescence

REFEZRE

Refer to Notes 4(b) and 18 to the consolidated

financial statements
ELBEE B HRERM T4b) K218

At 31st March, 2017, the Group held inventories of
HK$118,107,000, with provision of impairment of
HK$23,355,000. Among these inventories, there are
raw materials of HK$60,739,000, work in progress of
HK$25,451,000, and finished goods of HK$31,917,000.
Inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realisable
value.

WZZ2—+tF=A=+—-—H  EXEBEERFE
118,107,000/ 7T+ & {8 % 1 /323,355,000 7T ° £ #%
SHFEEF - RMHE 607390008 T EHIR
25,451,000 7T+ & B B f /431,917,000 7T » 17 &
LARK AR sl ] 8 3R F (B S AR o

Management assessed the provision periodically for
obsolete or slow moving inventories based on
consideration of potential obsolescence of raw
materials and work in progress, and the estimated
selling price less cost to sell of its finished goods. The
identification of inventory obsolescence and
determination of estimated selling price less cost to
sell require the use of significant judgements by
considering various factors, including their nature,
ageing, and the latest selling price.
ERERBHEERENRMBARERRD  ARE
HEENBEFAEERHERANEZE  EHFHR
EdnmEFENRE BIREFELEEMRE
BEREERAAEREAHB I EEZREERE &
EHEE BREEHFEE-

We regarded this as a key audit matter as provision
for obsolete or slow-moving inventories required
management judgements on estimates of future
demands and ageing of the inventories.

BB ASHREFFE EHRARERBHEETE
REFREEEHFENRRFELRERMEFS
#1185 -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS ONEERFAREGER

In assessing the appropriateness of management’s assessment of
the provision for obsolete or slow-moving inventories, we
performed the following procedures:
RAHEREENGENREIAETERBRETRER - BfE
TTUATRER:

J We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls on
management'’s periodic assessment of provision for obsolete
and slow-moving inventories across the Group.

. BHMTH FERIAEERBETHIE S£ERER
T E RN ERIES -

J We tested, on a sample basis, the inventory aging by
comparing the inventory records with the underlying

documents.

. BfZ BB FERSEMEXT  mEIATEER -

o We reviewed the subsequent utilisation of various raw
materials and work in progress, on a sample basis, to
assess the appropriateness of the associated provision
made, if any.

. BHAMERESEARMARERREENERBER - K
FHERTERERE (B EERE -

J We tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent selling price

of different products and compared with the average unit

costs.
. AV OB AR E @ E R & B 8T I9 AR AE
LE#

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered the
estimates made by management in assessing the provision for
obsolete or slow-moving inventories to be supported by available
evidence.

BBEALMETHRF  BHMRREEBRTERESFHT
ERBRAMELN G ERSREXS -
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the “Corporate Information”, “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Chairman’s Letter”,

“Financial Summary”, “Report of the

Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report”, and “Management
Profile” (but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report”, which is expected to be made

available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not and will not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the audit
committee and take appropriate action considering our legal

rights and obligations.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee

for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.
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J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with the audit committee all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Cheung Yuk Ting, Mabel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20th June, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2017

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other losses — net

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses

Operating profit
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to

the owners of the Company

(Losses)/earnings per share attributable to the

owners of the Company for the year

(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic

— Diluted
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The notes on pages 66 to 152 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

RE66E E1528

i o

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HLEE

2017 2016
—E-tF  —FAF
HK$’000 HK$000
FE T FAT
1,445,870 1,620,364
(1,174,219) (1,262,456)
271,651 357,908
(7,673) (4,038)
(87,533) (87,274)
(155,823) (164,718)
20,622 101,878
350 356
(7,579) (9,603)
(7,229) (9,247)
13,393 92,631
(22,577) (24,519)
(9,184) 68,112
(1.75) 12.97
(1.75) 12.97

IHEALEGAMBRENER



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st March, 2017

(Loss)/profit for the year ER(ER)HEF
Other comprehensive income: Hitt2E WK
ltems that may be reclassified to

RETEWER

HE-_ZT—+F=ZA=+—HIEFE

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HLEE

P58 B #T 5 A 73 18 25 Y B H

profit or loss

Increase in fair value of available-for-sale AHEEMBEE
financial assets

Currency translation differences EHRER

Other comprehensive loss for the year, FRHEMEPEERE
net of tax

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the FRAXQATNEEAELEZE(EE)

year attributable to the owners of the W i 48 EE
Company

The notes on pages 66 to 152 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

B3 -

2017 2016
—g—tF —FAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T
9,184) 68,112
DS EESE
280 135
(23,904) (10,1006)
B ik
(23,624) (9,971)
(32,808) 58,141
REGCHEZINAZHEALSEANBRRNER

61
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4R & B & 4R SR &
R-Z—+FE=A=+—H

As at 31st March, 2017

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Land use rights
Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments for non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets
Available-for-sale financial assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments and deposits

Tax recoverable

Bank deposits with maturity over
3 months from date of deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY
Equity attributable to the owners of

the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

Note
B 5
BE
RBEE
T b A 14
LE & 15
ERBEEZEMNK
BEIEFSHE E 23
AR ENBEE 17
REBEE
TE 18
B 5 EWIR R 19
ENRERIES 19
AT UG [ BT 45 R 3R
MiEFRERAHEBRA=(EA
BB ZRITER 20
RekBE2FH 20
BEE
s
AAREBEANELER
(LN 24
E 26
EHBHE

As at 31st March,

R=B=+-—-8
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$/000 HK$'000
FET FET
21,346 23,207
336,360 365,471
6,825 3,921
5,620 3,967
10,636 10,356
380,787 406,922
118,107 112,840
244,125 218,254
26,905 25,421
4,150 1,814
14,106 14,496
250,334 311,571
657,727 684,396
1,038,514 1,091,318
52,514 52,514
491,383 537,319
543,897 589,833



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2017

LIABILITIES 8E&
Non-current liabilities kERBAE
Borrowings mE
Deferred revenue i FE A
Deferred income tax liabilities ELEFEHEaE
Current liabilities bR =R =
Trade and bill payables BHRNERLRE
Current income tax liabilities BVERFT IS R B &
Borrowings BE
Accruals and other payables FEETRE R H MR R
Deferred revenue i FE A
Total liabilities BEAE
Total equity and liabilities EEREEAHE

The notes on pages 66 to 152 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 152 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 20th June, 2017 and

were signed on its behalf.

Lam Kwong Yu
M
Chairman

T

mEMBRR R

WZE—tF=A=1+—H

As at 31st March,

R=A=+-—H
2017 2016
—E—tHE T —RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHET
21 72,457 35,469
1,249 1,547
23 6,264 1,714
79,970 38,730
22 131,338 137,760
23,095 23,886
21 113,466 175,153
146,540 125,735
208 221
414,647 462,755
494,617 501,485
1,038,514 1,091,318
REE E152B 2 Bt SR AN B RERMELRE
1 e
FOBERINEZHAVBBRERER=ZZTE—F XA

“HHEEEERERRRESE -

Cheung Chi Shing, Charles
Director

EE




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #HRE =B X

For the year ended 31st March, 2017 HE-_ZT—+F=ZA=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAREEAEAL
Share capital Reserves Total
IR 2 & at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Balances at 1st April, 2015 —EZ-AFfWMA—H 52,514 484,429 536,943
Comprehensive income 2 H K
Profit for the year F X% F — 68,112 68,112
Other comprehensive income Hip 2 E W=
Increase in fair value of available-for- AI#tHEM B EE 2 AR
sale financial assets BEE M — 135 135
Currency translation differences EHEZR — (10,106) (10,106)
Total other comprehensive loss, Htt2EEBEHE
net of tax — BRBi#& — (9,971) (9,971)
Total comprehensive income for FRNDHW R
the year e T AL 28,141
Transactions with the owners in their BEAUNBEBEAELHNR S
capacity as owners
Dividends paid 2R E — (5,251) (5,251)
— 52,890 52,890
Balances at 31st March, 2016 and at R=-T— < E=A E'i‘— A
1st April, 2016 R—Z-R"FTA- 52,514 537,319 589,833
Comprehensive income 2HEKE
Loss for the year FREE — (9,184) (9,184)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2 E i &=
Increase in fair value of available-for- At HEPEEE 2 AN
sale financial assets BEEM — 280 280
Currency translation differences ER =R — (23,904) (23,904)
Total other comprehensive loss, Htbr2HEBEAR
net of tax — BRB® — (23,624) (23,624)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 A2 H &5 18 858 = (32,808) (32,808)
Transactions with the owners in their BEAUBEBEAELNR S
capacity as owners
Dividends paid 2R B — (13,128) (13,128)
— (45,936) (45,936)
Balance at 31st March, 2017 R=ZE—tH=A=+—H
Bk 52,514 491,383 543,897

EEINAZHETFARERAVHERENELRL

o

W

The notes on pages 66 to 152 are an integral part of these

Dkt
o
=

consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #SZEBERE R

For the year ended 31st March, 2017 BHE-_ZT—+tF=A=+—BLFE

Year ended 31st March,

=A=t+—-HLEHFE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHCHERE
Cash generated from operations KEEBEEZRERA  27@Q 66,638 216,666
Interest paid 21 F &2 (7,579) (9,603)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNEENSH (13,692) (7,650)
Overseas income tax paid B8 INTIS R 9,751) (10,936)
Overseas income tax refunded BIREZBBINFBR 310
Hong Kong profits tax refunded BREBFENEH — 855
Net cash generated from operating activities =~ AL & EEELE 2 RS FHE 35,926 189,332
Cash flows from investing activities REFBHZRENE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEEY ¥ - BFE REH (59,353) (30,040)
Prepayments of non-current assets ERBEEZBMNK (2,904) (2,733)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant HEME BEAREBZ
and equipment Frig e A 27(b) 2,784 610
Decrease/(increase) in short-term bank BB =18 AE 2 S HR
deposits with maturity over 3 months T1EFOR L,/ (G n)
from the date of deposits 390 (9,930)
Interest received 2 WCRLE 350 356
Net cash used in investing activities KEETEMA RS FR (58,733) (41,737)
Cash flows from financing activities METHCRERE
Proceeds from long-term bank loans FIBRITREER 87,000 98,000
Repayments of long-term bank loans BERITRAER (91,039) (108,755)
Proceeds from short-term bank loans FIGRITREER 123,052 182,652
Repayments of short-term bank loans BERITREPER (141,213) (209,298)
Repayments of finance lease BEMBEY — (3,518)
Dividends paid B E (13,128) (5,251)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHACAEFE (35,328) (46,170)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ReRAGEEZER
equivalents (R 4,/ (58,135) 101,425
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FHZHEESRESLZE
of the year 311,571 211,142
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents 3R ® &I &% E 2 E X E1HE (3,102) (996)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FRZESRELEE
the year 20 250,334 311,571

The notes on pages 66 to 152 are an integral part of these HE66EZE152H 7 W RLFHRAFHMERNES
consolidated financial statements. B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company. lIts subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the printing and manufacturing of packaging materials,
labels and paper products, including environmentally

friendly paper products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is 3/F, Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares have been listed on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently

applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale

financial assets which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial

statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

AN BRI

1 —RER
EXEBERAFANTAATD DI —RREER
AR -HMBRAAMIBEBANRREE
BEME ERRERLS SEBERAR
ES e

ARAR—NANZF+-A=ZBRBEARER
AHERGII98 RN BEREFMA L REREEIR
~&] o HFE 9 S BR #h 4k & Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda & &
FTELEMU ASBEBNAENERE NG E3IR
EXTEREME - ARARHE-NANZF
BREBMAERSMARLDR L -

BEAERN  EEaMBHRERABT(E
TR -

2 EEEHHEHSE
RELSGAVMBERRMEANEE G K
REAFIMT - RBEEAN  UEBRKER2
SIZHAFEEBER -

21 mBEZE
AABRAMBHREBEMEERAN
BEMIEREERN ((BEUBREERD
BB BCRGEAN(E622F) &) 1 5B 1
EMHAEE  GEMEBRERIZBE LKA
ERE WA EEMBEEMAR
AREBEINE) 2 EGMIELEE -

BREBUBHRELEANRRE S U
BEAARBETEIER G EEE
RERAREE SRR - JRAESL
B o SR EHEHENN KA
B HmEREBZOBRERRMAFETIIME
4B FE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %% & Bt 75 3R 3 Fff &%

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETBREBSEGE
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 201 REEE(E)
(@  New and amended standards adopted by @ FEBEERNZITERRIETA

the Group

The following new and amendment to

standards have been adopted by the Group

for the first time for the financial vyear
beginning 1st April, 2016.

HKAS 1 (Amendment)

HKAS 16 and HKAS
38 (Amendment)

HKAS 16 and HKAS
41 (Amendment)

HKAS 27

(Amendment)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 28

(Amendment)

HKFRS 11

(Amendment)

HKFRS 14

Annual improvements
2014

Disclosure Initiative

Clarification of
Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and
Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer

Plants

Equity Method in
Separate Financial

Statements
Investment Entities:

Applying the
Consolidation

Exception

Accounting for
Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint
Operations

Regulatory Deferral
Accounts

Improvements to
HKASs and HKFRSs

The adoption of these amendments did not

have any impact on the current period or any

prior period and is not likely to affect future

periods.

AEBR-_Z-—RFHA-H#
MRFEREEERERT T ER

RABRT AR

BB TR

E15% (EFTA0)

EB R LA

F165 L E B
FRTERIFE385%

CHES
FiBE A

F165 L E B
FEIERFE 4155

(B ETA)
EB G AR
$275%
(BFTA)
BBV BIRE

AR 105
EBMBRE
R FE125 &
BB G ER

52858
CCHES)
BEBMBHRE
ERIE15R

CHEN)

BEBMBHRE
R B1458

2014 B BRI [E
M

BEIER

EXZITE
Ko #3875 0%
208

BEAEMN
k)

EE VAR T

R 2 B
2

ERELERP

HEEEEF
ERREE
BBWmE
8

R FETAY AL EE R H
Bk E BT MEEREERY

& MPKAIRER

LRI o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards not yet
adopted

A number of new standards and amendments
to standards are effective for annual periods
beginning after 1st April, 2016 and have not
been applied in preparing these consolidated
financial statements.

HKAS 7 (Amendment)
Initiative

AN BRI

2 EESHERSEE

2.1

Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure

im BLE ()
(b) IRERHZ HER R ST E

SIEMER R ERHETR _F
—RNFOA-BEMNFEBHHED
£ ERGRLESEAMBR
REARBERM -

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
FEHBMRAR
REeEXR

1st January, 2017

BB GFERIE7S (BFTA)

HKAS 12 (Amendment)
BRGFTERERRUBFTR)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

BB WME LR F 2%
CCHES

HKFRS 9
BAENBEREENRR

HKFRS 15
BAEMBwEE 155

HKFRS 16
BAENBREEN D165

Hengk —REFE

Income Taxes

P15 5%

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions

UBRMBERZNRRZGZ D ERFE
Financial Instruments
@ ITA

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
BEPAaHNE

Leases
HE

—E—+%—-A—H

1st January, 2017
—T—+t¥—H—H

1st January, 2018
—E-N\F¥—H—H
1st January, 2018
—ZT-/\F—F—H

1st January, 2018
—Z-N\¥—H—H

1st January, 2019
—ET-NF—-A—H

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BAEPBHRELENFI0ELE
B gt RIE285 (B FTAN)

The Group has commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new standards and
amendments to existing standards. Except as
discussed below, the Group is not yet in a
position to state whether they would have a
significant impact on its results of operations
and financial position.

RAEEREBEDNARA
S B

EREZHENE EREE

REED BT HUSEHER R
RITERWETNZE  BRT
RSN - REEAD R E K Y
CEXERYBMRRSEERE
RE & -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

The new standard addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities, introduces new
rules for hedge accounting and a new

impairment model for financial assets.

While the Group has yet to undertake a
detailed assessment of the classification and
debt and

equity instruments currently classified as

measurement of financial assets,

available-for-sale financial assets would
appear to satisfy the conditions for
classification as at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and hence
there will be no change to the accounting for
these assets. Accordingly, the Group does not
expect the new guidance to have a significant
impact on the classification and measurement

of its financial assets.

There will be no impact on the Group’s
accounting for financial liabilities, as the new
requirements only affect the accounting for
financial liabilities that are designated at fair
value through profit or loss and the Group
does not have any such liabilities. The
derecognition rules have been transferred
from HKAS 39 Financial

Recognition and Measurement and have not

Instruments:

been changed.

The Group does not apply any hedge
accounting, therefore the management
expects no financial impact regarding the

new hedge accounting rules.

AN BRI

2 EESHERSEE

21 HmEEE(E)

(b)

AR Z FFER RASET ()

BB B HREEREIHR
[£@T A/
HEARETHHBEEMY A
FE’J DR REBRRILER I
M —EH b e R AR
W BEERERZN -

AEBMAHEVBEENS
M2 ETHFMATE Baid A
AHEEVBEENABLER
TEREAEBERUARAREE
AR EEKRE (AR EER
AHEMEEmKZED  BEETEHR
BELEENGFERE At
SEEALIIESIRTBEEN
DPERFAETEBSERTE -

HRHAETEFEETEANE
(ERPN=E zﬁﬂ%ﬁaamﬁi
MAEBMY ETMZSEE K
HEAEEMKEaBEZEFHE
Iﬁﬂ/ﬁ” cRIFHERBAIRKSE

EERERERIERITEAE R
HEEIEBBRER  TAEE

AEBRBERBEMNE TS5
bt PR FE TR G # b & 5 AR A
VEBHEZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)
The new impairment model requires the
recognition of impairment provisions based
on expected credit losses (“ECL”) rather than
only incurred credit losses as is the case
under HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets
classified at amortised cost, debt instruments
measured at FVOCI, contract assets under
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, lease receivables, loan
commitments and certain financial guarantee
contracts. While the Group has not yet
undertaken a detailed assessment of how its
impairment provisions would be affected by
the new model, it may result in an earlier

recognition of credit losses.

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change
the nature and extent of the Group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments
particularly in the year of the adoption of the

new standard.

HKFRS 9 must be applied for financial years
commencing on or after 1st January, 2018.
Based on the transitional provisions in the
completed HKFRS 9, early adoption in phases
was only permitted for annual reporting
periods beginning before 1st February, 2015.
After that date, the new rules must be
adopted in their entirety. The Group does not
HKFRS 9 before its

intend to adopt

mandatory date.

AN BRI

2

ERETREBEE

2.1

fn R E % (R)

(b)

AR Z FFER RASET ()

BB B HREEREINR
[£B T A(E)

R ERNERRAREERK
(MEHEEER ] ERRERE
MEBBHLANEEBRBRBRES
BEEERIFE395) - HEARNEK
BERADBOMBEE BA
AEEFENEBLAFAZE
Yegs ~ BB M5 S E R E1558
[BEFPZEMNERELENEA
THWAREE BUEENR &
RAENETHHEREGR - &
AN &2 [ 1 OR B AR ST £ 3 R S8 a0
MyBELpERE BEATEY
HRPHEREERK -

¥ R R & AT B EE AR TE A 51
B - MR EARAEE R
HeRMTANBRUELAMHEE -
LHREREARANERERA -

BREVBRELERNER VAL
“E-NF-A—-H® 2K
WP REERER - RIEE T
B & B E B ESRN B
FEWHHEX REF T —AF -
HA—BrRIFABOFEERE - TR
DHREPRM - RZAMEK - U
MRABEZBESN - REEAD
BMPOHEBGIMRRZ A EREE
875 R E AR5k -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

This standard replaces HKAS 18 which covers
contracts for goods and services and HKAS
11 which covers construction contracts. The
new standard is based on the principle that
revenue is recognised when control of a
good or service transfers to a customer. The
standard permits either a full retrospective or
a modified retrospective approach for the

adoption.

Management is currently assessing the effects
of applying the new standard on the Group’s
financial statements and has identified the

following areas that are likely to be affected:

o accounting for certain costs incurred in
fulfilling a contract — certain costs
which are currently expensed may
need to be recognised as an asset
under HKFRS 15; and

. rights of return — HKFRS 15 requires
separate presentation on the balance
sheet of the right to recover the goods
from the customer and the refund

obligation.

At this stage, the Group is not able to
estimate the impact of the new rules on the
Group’s financial statements. The Group will
make more detailed assessments of the

impact over the next twelve months.

HKFRS 15 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1st January, 2018. At
this stage, the Group does not intend to

adopt the standard before its effective date.

AN BRI

2

ERETREBEE

21 REEE(HE)
(b) IAREHZHERRIEETE (&)

BB BHEEREISFHES
Z A A EERKA S
BRI B E B & 5t £ R 518
FORELEEMMBEHRRBE
ERA) MEE & ER BN
(REREAR) - M EANRE
AU ANE a3 IR #1261 1 8
BEREPRHER - WWEARF2
T 26 W R A R AR 1B 2B M 77 SUIR
e

S T2 [ B Al 1E FF B F AT 2= A
HASEFBRRZITE R

RTSISETREIGE

. EREHNEENE THAAR
28 — BERIERZ®
BETRA: ATREREER S
B 7% & 4E Bl 1558 1 R
BREE R

. REHE — BEERBGREE
AFSRMEREERR
XHPORE2NKELFE
WEWH R MR R EE ©

PA U B B - AR SR D R AT IA A R
MAESANEENRBEHRROF
- AEESSFEHEFADTMGE
HERKT—EANTE -

BN SRS RS BAE
T NF-F-BRZEBHK
B0 B I 4 R B - B Lt BB
A 5 B R B R K R BT R A X
g -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases”

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the balance sheet, as
the distinction between operating and finance
leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item)
and a financial liability to pay rentals are
recognised. The only exceptions are short-

term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not
significantly change.
The standard will affect primarily the

accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$20,089,000. However, the Group has not
yet determined to what extent these
commitments will result in the recognition of
an asset and a liability for future payments
and how this will affect the Group’s profit

and classification of cash flows.

The new standard is mandatory for financial
years commencing on or after 1st January,
2019. At this stage,
intend to adopt the standard before its

the Group does not

effective date.

Fae)

2

Bt 75 3R AR MY =

ERETREBEE
21 REEEHE)
(b) IAREHZHERRIEETE (&)

BEHBEREEREl6n [# &)
EEE"@/EE’V“‘ S EmpEM

BBV G REERFE165 R
FHETHEABANHEEGNE
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HEHBZ2ERERGMNESHN
EREgENRWERAEEERS M
BE WMEHLMEEERETTELR
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AR ®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation
A subsidiary is an entity (including a

structured entity) over which the Group has

control. The Group controls an entity when

the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,

variable returns from its involvement with the

entity and has the ability to affect those

returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date

on which control is transferred to the Group.

They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

(@)

Business Combinations
The Group applies the acquisition
method

to account for business

combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at

the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(@)

Business Combinations (Continued)
The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured
at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is

required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed

as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved
in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(@)

Business Combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income

statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the

Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(b)

(c

Changes in ownership interests in

subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying amount
of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests

are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have
control, any retained interest in the
entity is re-measured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with
the change in carrying amount
recognised in the consolidated income
statement. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. It means the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to the consolidated income statement
or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.2 Separate financial statements

2.3

2.4

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received

and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a

if the

dividend exceeds the total comprehensive

dividend from these investments

income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend

amount of the investment in the separate

is declared or if the carrying
financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial

statements of the investee’s net assets

including goodwill.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner

consistent with the internal reporting provided to

the chief operating decision-maker. The chief

operating decision-maker, who is responsible for

allocating resources and assessing performance of

the operating segments, has been identified as the

Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

@)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(h)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents
are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “finance income” or “finance
cost”. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated

income statement within “other losses —

”

net”.

Changes in the fair value of debt securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes
in the amortised cost of the security and
other changes in the carrying amount of the
security. Translation differences related to
changes in amortised cost are recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and other
changes in the carrying amount are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary financial assets, such as
equities classified as available-for-sale, are

included in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)  Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation), or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified

to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not
result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or

loss.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are accounted for as prepaid operating lease
payments. They are expensed in the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the lease; when there is impairment, the
impairment is expensed immediately in the

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and
offices.

Property, plant and equipment, including

leasehold land classified as finance leases but
excluding construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance leases
commence amortisation from the time when the
land interest becomes available for its intended use.
Amortisation on leasehold land classified as finance
lease and depreciation on other assets is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost
to their residual values over their estimated useful

lives, as follows:

— Leasehold land classified Over the lease term

as finance lease
— Buildings
— Plant and machinery
— Furniture and equipment
— Motor vehicles

25 to 50 years
5 to 10 years
5 to 10 years
5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation work
has not been completed. It is carried at cost which
includes construction and installation expenditures
and other direct costs less any impairment losses.
On completion, construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until it is completed and

available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “other losses — net” in

the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-generating
units”). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets
2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the

following categories at fair value through

profit or loss, loans and receivables and

available-for-sale. The classification depends

on the purpose for which the financial assets

were acquired. Management determines the

classification of its financial assets at initial

recognition.

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are financial assets held
for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in
the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless
they are designated as hedges. Assets
in this category are classified as
current assets if expected to be settled
within twelve months; otherwise, they

are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for
the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than
twelve months after the end of the
reporting period. These are classified
as non-current assets. The Group’s
loans and receivables comprise trade
receivables, deposits, bank deposits
with maturity over 3 months from the
date of deposits and cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Notes
2.13 and 2.14).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)
2.8.1 Classification (Continued)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are
non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to
dispose of it within twelve months of

the end of the reporting period.

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date —
the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are
initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value, and transaction costs are expensed in
the consolidated income statement. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)
2.8.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the
fair value of the financial assets at “fair value
through profit or loss” category are presented
in the consolidated income statement within
other losses — net in the period in which
they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of other gains when the
Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and
non-monetary securities classified as
available-for-sale are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair
value adjustments recognised in equity are
included in the consolidated income

statement as “other losses — net”.

Interest on available-for-sale securities
calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of other gains. Dividends
from available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of other gains when the
Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

The fair values of quoted investments are
based on current bid prices. If the market for
a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted
securities), the Group establishes fair value by
using valuation techniques. These include the
use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis and option pricing models, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as

little as possible on entity-specific inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

29

2.10

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on
future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company

or the counterparty.

Impairment of financial assets
(@  Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss
event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the debtors or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions

that correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
For loans and receivable category, the
amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s

fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was
recognised (such as an improvement in the
debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is
recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(h)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of

financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence
exists the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is reclassified
from equity and recognised in profit or loss.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a
debt investment classified as available-for-sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through

the consolidated income statement.

For equity investments, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is reclassified
from equity and recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the consolidated income
statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.11

2.12

2.13

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently re-measured at their fair value.
The derivative financial instruments held by the
Group do not qualify for hedge accounting and are
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.
Changes in fair value of these derivative financial
instruments are recognised immediately in the

consolidated income statement.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work

in progress comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,

they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision

for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14

2.15

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less, and bank overdrafts. In the
consolidated statement of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
In this case, the fee
To the

extent there is no evidence that it is probable that

facilities will be drawn down.

is deferred until the draw-down occurs.

some or all of the facilities will be drawn down, the
fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months

after the end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in

which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16

2.17

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

@) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of statement
of financial position in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(h)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the date of statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be

utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent
that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against
which the temporary difference can be

utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(©

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net
basis.

2.18 Ordinary share capital

Share are classified as equity.

2.19

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Employee benefits

@

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and
long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the date of

statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(h)

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contribution for
post-retirement benefits beyond these fixed

contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities, insurance
companies or trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The
contributions are recognised as employment
costs when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction

in the future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(©

)

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of option
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based
on a formula that takes into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive

obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Provisions

2.21

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
in the same class of

any one item included

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.

Revenue and income recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax,
returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the entity; and when specific criteria have been met
for each of the Group’s activities as described
below. The Group bases its estimates of return on
historical results, taking into consideration the type
of customers, the type of transactions and the

specifics of each arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.21

2.22

Revenue and income recognition (Continued)
@) Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectability of the related receivables is

reasonably assured.

(b)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. When a loan and
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flow
discounted at the original effective interest
rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans and
receivables is recognised using the original

effective interest rate.

(¢)  Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the

right to receive payment is established.

Leases

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases in which a significant portion of
the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor), including
upfront payment made for land use rights, are
charged to the consolidated income statement on a

straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of certain property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22

2.23

Leases (Continued)

Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included in other long-term payable. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged to the
consolidated income statement over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The property, plant and equipment acquired
under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter

of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When an

inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.24

2.25

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s

shareholders.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the statement of profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the

costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred revenue and are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the

expected lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and
price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by
senior management of the Group under policies
approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"),
Hong Kong, Singapore and Malaysia
with most transactions denominated in
either Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong
dollars, Singapore dollars (“SGD”),
United States dollars (“US$”) or
Malaysian ringgit (“RM”). The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk
primarily through sales and purchases
transactions that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant subsidiary. The
Group considers its foreign currency
exposure mainly arises from the
exposure of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars and/or US$. As Hong Kong
dollars is pegged to US$, the Group
believes the exposure of transactions
denominated in US$ which are entered
by group companies with a functional
currency of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by

monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure to
foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 3Tst March, 2017, approximately
94% (2016: 91%) of the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB while the
remaining were mainly denominated in
US$ and RM. The Group’s borrowings
are mainly in Hong Kong dollars or
RMB to finance investments in the
PRC. At present, the management does
not expect that there will be any
significant foreign exchange risk
associated with the Group’s borrowings
and the Group did not use any
financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group’s borrowings during the year.

At 31st March, 2017, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2016:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars or US$
with all other variables held constant,
pre-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately HK$258,000 (2016:
HK$621,000) lower/higher, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
At 31st March, 2017, if SGD had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2016:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other

for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,272,000 (2076:
HK$1,197,000) lower/higher, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange losses/
gains on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in non-
functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

Cash flow interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in

market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly
arises from borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from the

Group’s borrowings.

At 31st March, 2017, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 10 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax loss for the
year would have been HK$153,000
higher/lower (2016: post-tax profit
HK$173,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense

on floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units

and monitored by the Group’s

management on a group basis. Most

customers are sizable and renowned.
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.

The Group believes that adequate provision
for impairment of trade receivables has been
made in the consolidated financial statements
and that all customers with delinquency in
payments and indication of impairment were
fully provided for. To the extent that
information
properly
expected future cash flows in their impairment

is available, management has

reflected revised estimates of
assessments in relation to receivables. As at
31st March, 2017,

impairment of

a total provision for
receivables of
HK$8,299,000 (2016: HK$12,608,000) had

been recognised in the consolidated financial

trade

statements.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
Malaysia and the PRC.

Management considers that the credit risk

Singapore,

associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutes is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

©

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s management aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) and
undrawn borrowing facilities (Note 29) on the

basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of statement of financial
position date to contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within twelve months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not
significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

©

o)

Bt 35 8RR MY =

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 B¥BEEREREE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 30 B EEEEGE)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (© RBHEZEMREE)
Specifically, for the bank borrowings which B BB RTATKER
contain a repayment on demand clause EROTENEEREERR IR
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole TRE TINIMENERAEE
discretion, the analysis shows the cash WEREFOHREPENR SR
outflow based on the earliest period in which o BB RROATT (8 B A (6 1 R R
the Group can be required to pay, that is if B BF g [B] B 3K o
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional
rights to call the loans with immediate effect.
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
On demand 1 year years years Over 5 years
N 3
EER PR—F —-E=fF “ERF¥ BBERF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FER TET FET FER
Group £
At 31st March, 2017 R-—ZB—-tH=A=+—-H
Borrowings wE 65,793 47,673 45,002 27,455 -
Trade and bill payables B ZEN BT L EE — 131,338 - — -
Other payables HA JEAT R - 70,920 — — —
Interest payable FER RS 2,051 3,312 1,774 838 —
67,844 253,243 46,776 28,293 —
At 31st March, 2016 R-ZB-X"E=ZA=+-H
Borrowings BE 147,867 27,286 15,898 17,801 1,770
Trade and bill payables ESEMNER R FEE — 137,760 — — —
Other payables H A AT — 73,856 — — —
Interest payable e IS 5,068 1,713 1,013 828 38
152,935 240,615 16,911 18,629 1,808
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities
which are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as available-
for-sale financial assets. To manage its price
risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its investment

portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on The Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.

At 31st March, 2017,
equity securities invested by the Group had

if the prices of the

been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$172,000
(2016: HK$171,000) lower/higher.
The fair value of the unlisted insurance
policies invested by the Group will fluctuate,
subject to the returns which are at the
insurance

discretion of the issuer of the

policies. Such policies have a minimum
guaranteed returns during the holding period.
Management is of the opinion that the price

risk arising from these policies is insignificant.

3.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are

to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a

going concern

in order to provide returns for

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and

to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,

the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid

to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents.
Total capital is calculated as “equity”, as shown in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's strategy was to maintain a net gearing
ratio less than 75%. The Group was in net cash
position as at 31st March, 2017 and 2016. The net
gearing ratios at 31st March, 2017 and 2016 were

as follows:

Borrowings (Note 21)
Bill payables (Note 22)

Total borrowings MERE
Less: cash and cash equivalents 2

(Note 20) (B 5%£20)

e R
e

Net Cash
Total capital

Net gearing ratio FRELE
Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
including cash and cash equivalents, bank deposit,
and financial

trade receivables and deposits

liabilities including trade and bill payables, other
payables and short-term bank borrowings,
approximate their fair values due to their short-term

maturities.

o)

3

& (M &E21)
JE - 2 4% (P 3E22)

RekBie

Bt 35 8RR MY =

B E T (E)

3.2 EBEXREKER(E)
AEBLNFEBLERAHEELERAEARN
ZhHERLNBEFERUARABRETE

%5E

3.3

BEFENAREBEREAMBEMN
MREFPRENRDERIFERDRE) BIR
eRALEE - RALEFERRNES
MBRRRFOIRARER] -

REBRBAKERFABLEIR
75% - AEEBHE-_T—tFR=ZT
/\i )E] + Bﬁ/?fﬁiﬂjﬁﬁ"ﬁé

T—+tFR-TE-—R"F=-A=+—H
ZOFABELENT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$000

FTET FET

185,923 210,622

245 1,101

186,168 211,723

(264,440) (326,067)

(78,272) (114,344)

543,897 589,833

N/A N/A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ #x

EUB/RRME

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 BEBEEREREE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEZMEE (HE)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2017 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
Such

categorised into three levels within a fair value

used to measure fair value. inputs are

hierarchy as follows:

—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

—  Inputs other than quoted prices included

within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2017.

Level 1
B
HK$’000
THET
Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial assets — AJft HH&E K& E 1,723

TEROIMAKEER-_FT-—LF=A

=T -HERARFEAREBEZMEER
MR ABBNER FERARE
BINRZEBMIAZAREE - AHSH
ABBDVRIXAdmoBEARAE
BERBAN=E=ZL:

— RBEEEXBEEERTS LMD
BECREHEN(E ) -

— BRE-BABECOREIN BE
HEEOTEZENER) REE

(AIRERUINGH)BRAEN
H=(E &) -

— YHERBEUBERTSBEMET
MEEXRBENRZ(BIAAEE
MRZR)(E=Z) -

TRENAKEBENR-_ZT-—LF=A
=t—HAURAEEAENEE -

Level 2 Level 3 Total
ey 3 F=® st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET
— 8,913 10,636

The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2016.

TRENAEEBER T - RXF=A
=t—BURAEAENEE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& EZR F=® et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAET FAT
Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial assets — AJ{ft 1 & 81 7 & & 1,706 — 8,650 10,356
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 FR F—HR BF-RARFE=H2EIL
during the year. AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(@) Financial instruments in level 1
The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of consolidated statement
of financial position. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily listed equity investments classified

as available-for-sale financial assets.

b) Financial instruments in level 2
The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in

level 2.

© Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3 (Note 17).

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

No financial asset and financial liability is subject
to offsetting under an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar arrangement as at 31st
March, 2017 and 31st March, 2016.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below.

(@ Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
or annually in accordance with relevant accounting
standards. An impairment loss is recognised when
the carrying amount of an asset is lower than the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In determining the value in use,
management assesses the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from
the continuing use of the asset and from its disposal

at the end of its useful life.

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use which is the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow forecast including whether
these cash flow forecast is discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates, the gross profit margin or the
revenue growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
forecast, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the

Group’s financial position and results of operations.

AN BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@

(b)

(9]

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group has certain non-
financial assets, including property, plant and
equipment and land use rights in the eastern China
segment, amounting to approximately HK$56
million. Given the economic performance of the
assets in the eastern China segment was worse than
expected due to the deterioration in the operating
efficiency and gross margin resulting in a loss from
operation, management considered the operating
loss as an impairment indicator on the non-financial
assets and has performed an impairment assessment
on these assets. Management has also performed
sensitivity analysis over the key assumptions of the
cash flow forecast, including future revenue growth
rate and discount rate, in order to assess the
potential impact of a range of possible outcomes.
Based on the results of the assessment, it is
concluded that provision for impairment of the
above non-financial assets of the eastern China
segment is required, which is disclosed in Note 15

to the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and applicable
variable selling expenses. These estimates are based
on current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of
a similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in customer taste and competitor
actions in response to industry cycles. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each

reporting period.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of trade receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and current market
conditions, and requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Management reassesses the provision at

the end of each reporting period.

AN BRI
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in

which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is likely that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax in the period in which such estimate is

changed.

Fair value of financial assets

The fair values of financial assets that are traded in
an active market are determined by the quoted
market prices. For the fair values of financial assets
not traded in an active market, the Group would
use the quoted price provided by counterparty to
estimate the fair values. For the fair values of
financial assets not based on observable market
data, the Group would use other valuation
approaches to measure the fair values. The
methodologies, models and assumptions used in
valuing these financial assets require judgement by
management which are mainly based on market

conditions existing at each reporting date.

AN BRI

4

EX

(d)

(e)

B ATl 5T R H i (&)

Frig

REBRMMNE TREEREIA - B2
it RS PTS R BB EHE RN H
B - BEZABEEERKBBAZRXHR
AE-AERZEREIHAEKMEIN
MIEMERRAREEXEENEE -
MZEEEZERBBEERANF L
BeoBIR AEEZR T EEHL
SETHEANZAHEELERBRE
EXEE-

fied & I 2 78 A R I AR B0 M AT AR
HERMEERARBERA THHE
Al eERRETERLEERAH IR
ERMBHAEERVIABSE - WEDE
REREZHEERAR  FHEZRSYHE
MEELREH 2 HMAZEEMS
MEELMBVNAL ZEABURTE -

MBEENAREE
RERBTSEEENVBEENAREE
MG EREE MALFENERTISE
ENMBEENARBE AEESR
EARE R R BREFEAREE -
WMPBEEZ AR BELIEBRETEE
MSEBEETE AEESENAEMLRE
BERMAEEELAEE- BATEL
EHMBEENDE RURBRRFEE
BENSEBERIERMSERMIE
e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information

@

(b)

Analysis of revenue by category

Revenue represents the net amounts received and
receivable from customers during the year. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue by type for the year

is as follows:

Sales of packaging materials, labels and

AN BRI

5

paper products, including MEHD B
environmental friendly paper products RREBBEEM
Others Hit
Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”)
of the Group has been identified as the Chairman/
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM of the Company reviews the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has reported
the results of the operating segments based on

these reports.

The CODM of the Company considers the business
from a geographical perspective, i.e. determined by
the location of major factory plants including
Southern China, Eastern China and South East Asia,
and assesses performance based on revenue,
operating profit/(loss), profit/(loss) for the year,

capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.

WARDEHEHR

@

HEREME BER

(b)

WARER D
WARKRFARNE WE S B U T PRI F
B FAREERBAZBER DT

2017 2016
—ZT—tHF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FH T
1,423,005 1,595,685
22,865 24,679
1,445,870 1,620,364

7 HE R

ARAER/ HATRERAAEELE
BERRE(EERREREE]D - K2
DEAMEBLERRERHAINER
—HOPAZER  ARFETERLERE
EEHNAKBEZABME  UFHEERR
EOoRBER EREEREBEZSHREE

ARAEEBRERAREDRREBER N
EEn  BRTIEBMENMELREER
FBER EREERBEI RRERA
meERn/ (BB FRERN(BE)
EAMY BERBEFESSHHOE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5

Segment information (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31st March,

2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Year ended 31st March, 2017

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external
customers

Operating profit/(loss)
Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure
Provision for impairment of

property, plant and equipment

Year ended 31st March, 2016

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external
customers

Operating profit

Finance income

Finance costs

Income tax (expense)/credit

Profit for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure

KEIMNBEP A

RN (EE)

BAEUWA
B A& BA
P15 BB X

Fraf (EE)

Ht&EH
MmyE MERERE

ITE M
CRNGED

ME - BE L& E
B 1

—Z2-A"¥=ZA=+—-H
LFEE

2 B A

EHEEON

KESMERE P A

A
I
Pl

i

A

BmAEKA
A KA
Frs s ()R %

4 P F

Ht&H !

MEME  BERRE
78 K 5

BARX

mEMBRRME

BWARDIHER (&)

by DHBER(E)
HE2_Z2—+tHFRrR=_FT—XNF=ZH
—t—HUEFEZOHEELT

Southern Eastern South

China China  East Asia Group
#E #ER REm 58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FET
1,151,991 295,045 151,614 1,598,650
9,389)  (143,391) —  (152,780)
1,142,602 151,654 151,614 1,445,870
31,132 (20,340) 9,830 20,622
146 154 50 350
(5,923) (1,257) (399) (7,579)
(20,688) — (1,889) (22,577)
4,667  (21,443) 7,592 (9,184)
50,105 6,840 2,408 59,353
35,313 12,223 7,333 54,869
51,468 8,381 2,408 62,257
— 10,000 — 10,000
1,245,689 365,059 158,609 1,769,357
(1,518) (147,374) (101) (148,993)
1,244,171 217,685 158,508 1,620,364
68,618 19,036 14,224 101,878
128 182 46 356
(7,253) (1,591) (759) (9,603)
(17,581) (9,107) 2,169 (24,519)
43,912 8,520 15,680 68,112
22,052 5,511 2,477 30,040
36,656 18,450 7,055 62,161
23,671 7,100 2,002 32,773




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

(o)

(d)

Segment information (Continued)
An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
segment as at 31st March, 2017 and 2016 is as

follows:

As at 31st March, 2017 R-ZE—+tF
=ZHA=+—H

Segment assets DEEE

Segment liabilities DEARE

As at 31st March, 2016 R-E—XRHF
=ZA=+—H

Segment assets DEEE

Segment liabilities pEEE

Information about major customers

Revenues of approximately HK$364,127,000 (2016:
HK$363,254,000) are derived from two external
customers (2016: two external customers). These
revenues are attributable to the Southern China

segment.

Analysis of revenue by destination of
customer
Revenue from external customers by country, based

on the destination of the customer:

Hong Kong and the PRC B RF
The United States of America EE

South East Asia R
Europe M
Others HAh

AN BRI

5 WARTDBESR(E)

(b 2 EBEHR(H)
RIE—tFR-E-—RF=ZA=+—
HIEFEASBZDAEERBESN
T -

Southern Eastern South
China China  East Asia Group
-] #R REEm 58

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000

T TR TR T

707,140 159,628 171,746 1,038,514

386,571 75,688 32,358 494,617

683,483 237,614 170,221 1,091,318

376,955 86,121 38,409 501,485

(o)

(d)

EBREXEREFER

#9364,127,000% (= T — X F:
363,254,000 JT) B9 W AR B 7R (E Sh 2R
ERE(ZE-XNF:ZENKER)
ZEWRABREMDEL

REFENL ZWADH

SIRBFPIEBBEEDZEA - BREFS
ZBHH

2017 2016
—ZT—tHF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FH T
330,517 488,482
463,719 581,040
228,685 154,164
376,968 354,396
45,981 42,282

1,445,870 1,620,364
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BRI

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 AR 2 &R (F)
(e) Analysis of non-current assets e FARBEEDMN
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments BiRESERDEE  BHKRESRT
and deferred income tax assets by country: BERBEEMISHEE
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET
The PRC i 289,041 308,125
Hong Kong 3 22,971 25,258
Malaysia BRI 50,676 58,001
Singapore BN 1,843 1,215
364,531 392,599
6  Other losses — net 6 HftFE — F&E
2017 2016
—E—+tF AN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Provision for impairment of property, mE - BEIREBZRERE
plant and equipment (10,000) —
Net exchange gains/(losses) E S (Ei8) %58 1,374 (6,082)
Loss on disposals of property, LEME BEARXRBZERE
plant and equipment (4,569) (2,354)
Others H Al 5,522 4,398
(7,673) (4,038)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %% & Bt 75 3R 3 Fff &% 117

7  Expenses by nature 7 BUHBESZEX
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
HK$’000 HK$000
THET THET
Raw materials and consumables used R KB FE G 631,846 695,131
Changes in inventories of finished goods and # K mRERGBFEE
work in progress 1,741 (8,415)
Sub-contracting charges mIER 65,980 65,990
Repairs and maintenance HERE 21,308 16,218
Freight and transportation EREA 48,687 42,122
Employment benefit expense (including BEIRA(BEEEFHE)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 9) (Bt 3E9) 467,348 499,435
Operating lease rentals of premises HAMEREHE
charged by HE T
— third parties — =& 11,168 13,762
— related parties (Note 30) — B@E AL (B 5E30) 76 72
Write-back of provision for impairment of B 5 & WK BR TR (B 5 s Bl
trade receivables (Note 19) (P 5£19) (3,119) (1,722)
Provision for inventory obsolescence BERERE
(Note 18) (Kf5E18) 933 8,581
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 14) + b {55 P e B (BT 7E14) 711 744
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BELKEBZITE
equipment (Note 15) (P 5£15) 54,158 61,417
Auditor’s remuneration % EED BN &
— Audit services — ZERH 2,796 1,984
— Non-audit services — BB 344 416
Other expenses Hi 113,598 118,713

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution HEKRA HERSHEEBEARK
costs, and general and administrative — B RITHAX B
expenses 1,417,575 1,514,448
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BRI

Finance costs — net 8 ®MEREX — FHE
2017 2016
—E—+tF A
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Finance costs & R
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITRMEN B 7,579 9,471
Interest on finance leases B REOF L — 132
7,579 9,603
Finance income mERA
Interest income on bank deposits SRITEFERF B A (350) (356)
7,229 9,247
9  Employment benefit expense (including 9 BINFXBREEEH)
directors’ emoluments)
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Salaries, wages and allowances Fe - ITEKREE 387,076 414,128
Discretionary bonus B R E ZIEAL 2,129 11,391
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIRKAR — FE ARG & 65,835 58,481
(Write-back of provision)/provision for long FHRBERFRZ
service payments and annual leave (BRI B B (1,180) 1,273
Other welfare and benefits H 48 7 R A &= 13,488 14,162
467,348 499,435

AEBEDREBEIZ2MBHIEATERTE (58
EertE) ZEAERAEHRRALABIET
AER - RERESHE  EEIQFAES)
MEBEESAHRZTABEERHEAB(GZARG T
Scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and RIECFHGEIZEE)Z25% MEEXNEER
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme HHEAZ EBRA1L,5008 7T 0 B FR e H#
R BB FBAMEHR -

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution scheme

managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF

at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the
employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% of their
salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 13% to 20% of the salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5% to 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 7.5% to 17% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD6,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$33,400) during
the year ended 31st March, 2017.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 4% to 8% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 6% to 13% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’

contributions are not subject to a cap.

AN BRI

ETRA(BEESEHS)(E)

RIEFBUER AEBERPRBEBZARA
HEER Y AATHARLABEREN MR
Kestdl - EIZHFBOREARAT 28
8% MEBMARIZHABHAEREELY
B ZH3%E20% - REFEEH-ZKI - EE QA
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A& - ZEBEBERE AR RS 5T 8 &%
HEKEEMAMBRARESEME -
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BEERKETE - Bt E - BREMHRE
B S 2 5% E20% MEB QR 2 HREE
BRBREHFLHN75%E17% BENRBEEMHK
ZEBRR=ZZE—tF=A=+—HFEA6,000
BTN T (P8 55 7 433,400 7T) ©

RBEROATER AEBRFRAZAE
BzoRAlEHAE-—EERABRATHR
NRESHEERKSE - R%i1E - EE
HRBERF L ZH4%E8%  MEBE QA 2 H#
HREEEEHE L 2H6%EB% EXNES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

Benefits and interests of directors and senior 10

executives

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section

383 (1)) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

(Cap. 622), and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.
622G) and Hong Kong Listing Rules.

(@

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
For year ended 31st March, 2017, the remuneration

of directors and the chief executive

below:

Name of Director

For the year ended 31st March, 2017

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry,

BBS, JP
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Expg

—E-tf§=A
=+-BLEE

HiTESE
HrmEE
BEERLE
REMEE

FHUTES
BRELL

BUkBTES

DWE - %425

XFaL
BRELE

is set out

Emoluments paid or
receivable in
respect of a
person’s services as
a director, whether
of the Company or
its subsidiary
undertaking

AN BRI

EERSMITBRAEZRNERER

THRBERREEE(RAGINE2E)E
3M@ZENH  RARREEEMNEE R
MONFE2RCE)E_RFEFNDBREELD
AN -

@ EBRITRZHE
EERHTRBEE-_Z—LF=A
=t—BLEFEZBENT:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services
in connection with the management of the affairs,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REAERES
(FREADTY
HNBAAMES)
ifi 42 1t #9 R 5 -
XRNFZESH REERUFBEE(FRRALAREMBEAR)
ZEEUREE ERNEMBRY  IHFAESNFH -
iR 7 T U BR 9 5 A SR EE SR R E
Allowances Employer’s
and contribution to
Discretionary benefits  a retirement
Fees  Salaries bonus in lieu benefit scheme Total
BHRE BER RIRER
e ¢ ZEA BYNZ HEEIHR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEx TERL TR TR TEx T#Ex
150 4,060 955 270 76 5,511
150 1,497 352 — 43 2,042
150 2,731 685 93 71 3,730
150 — — — — 150
200 — — — — 200
200 — — — — 200
200 — — — — 200
1,200 8,288 1,992 363 190 12,033




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

executives (Continued)

Benefits and interests of directors and senior 10

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

Emoluments paid or
receivable in respect
of a person’s
services as a
director, whether of
the Company or its

AN BRI

EERERITBRAEZRNERER

(#&)
(@)

EShaTRZHME (B

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services

subsidiary in connection with the management of the affairs, whether of the
undertaking Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAERES
(MHRARA K
HAWBRANES)
iR f e IR
INTFRESL REFRHEEHBEEPRRARARAMBARF)
ZEEARAE EBRMEBRE XA TRESOHFH
R 7 T MR B 35 B o % B AT AL A5 TR AR B
Allowances Employer’s
and  contribution to
Discretionary ~ benefit in ~ a retirement
Name of Director EEpS Fees  Salaries bonus lieu  benefit scheme Total
BERE 2HR R
wne 2 L EYNE HEEIAX st
HK$§'000  HK$'000 HK§'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL TER TEL FET TET FEn
For the year ended 31st March, 2016 =ZF—XF=A
=+-BLEEFE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MW mEE 150 3,772 314 270 71 4,577
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEERE 150 1,391 116 - 41 1,698
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles EEMEA 150 2,251 226 366 67 3,060
Non-Executive Director FUTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRELZL 150 - - — 150
Independent Non-Executive Directors B #{TES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael R rEE 200 — — - 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, DWE - i
BBS, JP AF#L 200 — — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRERE 200 — — — 200
1,200 7414 656 636 179 10,085

During the year, no emoluments were paid or

receivables in

respect of accepting office as

directors (2016: Nil) and no directors waived any

emolument (2016: Nil).

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive

Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered

by him as the Chief Executive.

FARA G TEREIEEFRUMENR
EWBEME(ZT—RF: B RILE
EEMETAFHN (T —RF:H)-

MIMELETRARTRITR » LA
BEEMeTEEMERRTRZME -
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(b)

(9]

Gl

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received or
will receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits in respect of their services to the Group for
the year ended 31 March, 2017 (2016: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any
consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2016:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company in favour of the
directors of the Company, or body corporate
controlled by or entities connected with any of the
directors of the Company at the end of the year or

at any time during the year (2016: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Except as disclosed in Note 30(a), no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at

any time during the year (2016: Nil).

AN BRI

10 EERSRITBRAEZANERER
(%)
b)) EBZEABANREREFN

HE_Z—+F=A=+—HLFEA -
fﬁ%ﬁﬁ RESFRARANEBIEZHRE
B WCER sk W ER AR B A 3R PR 4@ A Sl B
BEAN(CE—RE M)

0 HRENEEREMEAF=AxNTZ
RE
FARA -AEEMEREREZTRBAR
AMAERNE=T HRE (T —RE:
&) -

d FHRESKRZESNIEZHEE
RAZERITYINENR EEXR
HX S 2EH

AEERERARARFEENEETNTE
%U&I&EQLE‘?‘”H*‘/\}\ﬁ'ﬁuT_Lb‘Ai
AEFANERBBDAFTENER
ERSEMRZ(ZT—RF: &) -

e EERXZ ZHIAGHZEKX
Rz
BrMfsE30() R BESN - I Emp R EE X
BAYARBBEFITNTRARRE
EERAHEEAEREAMRNFERRK
FAEAERDAFTENERRS &
BRAKN(ZE—RF &) -
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

M)

(g

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three Executive
Directors (2016: three) whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining two
(2016: two) individuals during the year, one (2016:
two) of them fell within the band between
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000, and the other fell
HK$1,500,001 and
HK$2,000,000 (2016: Nil). The emoluments paid or

payable to the remaining two individuals were as

within the band between

follows:

AN BRI

10 EERERITRABZANERERS

(&)

M)

EfuEREHAL
AEBRUSSHFA TP =LA
EECE—AF D) HBM e #HR
Lty FAEBENSESHBTZ
AMZE—RF: D) Eh— A=
—NF I ZA)EB S /1,000,001 T =
1,500,000 LB Rl » BIh—A - EB &
/1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007% 7T %8 7
TE-RF E) -BENREMBRTZ
AZB& T :

2017 2016

—E—tF A

HK$’000 HK$000

FTERT FHET

Basic salaries and allowances E AR ¥ ¢ KER, 2,700 2,301
Discretionary bonus BHERE ZIEAL 416 182
Pension costs-defined contribution plans — RKK A — FE G FKETE 81 65
3,197 2,548

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or

as compensation for loss of office (2016: Nil).

The emoluments fell within the following bands: (g FMmEAHEZY:
Number of individuals
AB
2017 2016
—B—tF —E-RF
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T %1,500,000/% 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001% 7T & 2,000,0007% 7T 1 —

RZE—+F=ZA=+—BILFERN
BERAEAEESIESHIAMALX
NMESERBBEMAREE 2 R K
EREREBRUZBECET - RF:
&) -
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11  Income tax expense 11
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the British
Virgin Islands are incorporated under the International
Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and,
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands

income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2016: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for

the year arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are
subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rate of 25%
during the year (2016: 25%).

The subsidiaries established in Singapore and Malaysia are
subject to Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate of
17% (2016: 17%) and Malaysia Corporate Income Tax at a
rate of 24% (2016: 24%) respectively.

FrE B x
AARERRAMERERE EE-F=F
FRIE-ARARKBEBRBEERINE
HEBRARNREXBRARESEBEEA
LR EE AR ST - B Ut - B A G 0 2R 1
REBHEH -

EBFET AT E16.5% (ZF—75F 1 16.5%)
BREBCEER BT ERBUET T EBE -

ERBEKRLREE B ARRAEEEIR
25% (—Z — N5 1 25%) 5 R B R B 1 ¥ AT
1SR e

T B 03 B 55 R P8 2R B SZ 2 P B R R 0 Bl 4R
0 Db 2P AS BB E17% (ZF — K F
17%) & F5 2K 78 35 1b % PR 15 B B R24% (ZF
=N 24%) B -

The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated RiFaBamRTPNROHTIERRE:
income statement represents:
2017 2016
—E—+E —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$000
FTHET FAET
Current income tax expense BIER P15 B0 B 2
— Hong Kong profits tax — HEMEH 6,004 9,040
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — HEEMER 8,874 14,708
— Overseas Corporate Income Tax — BN EMRER 261 974
Under provision in prior years BEFEEBEITR 324 1,733
Withholding tax TER 4,550 —
20,013 26,455
Deferred income tax (Note 23) iR 3E P 15 B (B 3E23) 2,564 (1,936)
Income tax expense Fr8fmx 22,577 24,519




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the

weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the

consolidated entities as follows:

Profit before income tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rate
applicable to profits in the respective
countries/jurisdictions

Tax exemption

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax losses and other temporary differences
for which no deferred income tax
was recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax
losses

Under provision in prior years

Withholding tax

Income tax expense

AN BRI

11 EHEAX(E)
ANEE 2 BRF AR ETE 2 B8 EE AN
SEARGEMZMEFOBREXFAE2ERS
HEMEZR  HHEKRNOT:
2017 2016
—E—tF —T X
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
B 5% A1 a2 ) 13,393 92,631
BRIEBRR RIEERER
P F) 2 F) 15 i 2
ARG 2,176 17,680
BIEE R (145) (146)
mARMA (438) (386)
A1 2 1,256 8,764
BEBEREMERHEREL
ZARMERIEIEFTSH
9,326 5,295
1 AT R 7 R
HBEE (384) (8,421)
BEFEREETR 324 1,733
TR 10,462 —
Frigfimx 22,577 24,519

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 16.2%

(2016: 19.1%). The change in average tax rate is mainly

caused by changes in the operating results of certain

subsidiaries in Southern China and Eastern China.

MRz T ER16.2% (—F — K F:
19.1%) > FHORENBLTEEMNERDRE
RETHBEBARZERENEEMBEX -
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12 (Losses)/earnings per share 12 ER(ER)EA
Basic =N
Basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing FREX(BB) BAEERNEARESEA
the Group’s (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the JEEARER(ER), BB NBRTEER
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary ZMEFHHETE -

shares in issue during the year.

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the AR HEH A FElL
Company (HK$'000) (&8, &/ (FHET) (9,184) 68,112
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 317 & @R 2 h#E 15 2
in issue (‘000) (F 1) 525,135 525,135
Basic (losses)/earnings per share (HK cents) BREXN(EE) BF GE) (1.75) 12.97
Diluted w8
Diluted (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by R E (BB BN DREBRAENEE
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares MEEERRESGRE KHBCDHTER
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential Bz mMEFEHFAR —E—tF=R=+—
ordinary shares. For the year ended 31st March, 2017 and AR—ZE—R"E=ZA=T—HILFE Sk#
31st March, 2016, diluted (losses)/earnings per share equals B (B BABERFRER(ER) 2T -
basic (losses)/earnings per share as there were no dilutive AW Ea#EREERD -

potential shares.




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13

Dividends 13 RE
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FiET
Interim dividend — HK$0.01 FHEIRR B — TR AL
(2016: HK$0.01) per share (ZZ—R"F : FRBEL) 5,251 5,251
Proposed final dividend — HK$Nil BKREAKRE — 8RBE &
(2016: HK$0.01) per share (Z2—RF: 8RABEUL) — 5,251
Proposed special dividend — HK$Nil MERERRE — BRBE &
(2016: HK$0.005) per share (ZZ—R"F: FRE%0.51) — 2,626
5,251 13,128

The dividends paid in 2017 and 2016 were HK$13,128,000
(HK$0.025 per share) and HK$5,251,000 (HK$0.01 per
share) respectively. The Board of Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31st March, 2017 (2016: The directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.01 and a special
dividend of HK$0.005 per share totaling approximately
HK$7,877,000 for the year ended 31st March, 2016).

AN BRI 127

RZE—+tFRZFE—AFENBREDH A
13,128,000 7T (&F % 7% #2.51l) 1 5,251,000%
T(ERBBEU EFERFTREHEZ
E—+FZA=+—BLEFERHOBRE - (=
T AT EEERBRRBEE_T R F=
A=+ —BLFEHRBBKREGRB B
T Bl B B B B 0.510 - A 497,877,000
HIT) ©
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AN BRI

14 Land use rights 14 LEAE

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid AEERTHEARNERERTKEAE

operating lease payments. FRIE o
2017 2016
— A
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THET
At st April REA—H 23,207 24,850
Amortisation o3 (711) (744)
Translation adjustments E R (1,150) (899)
At 31st March KR=ZA=+—H 21,346 23,207

The amortisation expense recognised in the consolidated

income statement is analysed as follows:

RiEEWERPERZEEFAS  HMWAT:

2017 2016

—E-+tF —EF-RF

HK$’000 HK$000

THET FET

Cost of sales Fi YN 11 12
General and administrative expenses — MR R AT XX 700 732

711 744
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15 Property, plant and equipment 15 YE -BERRE
Land and  Plant and  Furniture and Motor  Construction
buildings  machinery equipment  vehicles  in progress Total
TRk
g BE  BARRE "E HRIR Fobay
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31st March, 2016 BEZZ—~%F
“AZt+-HLEEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 173,992 217,267 10,837 4916 4,532 411,544
Additions RE 2,425 20,348 5,061 1,172 1,034 30,040
Depreciation & (10,035)  (46,972) (3,253) (1,157) — (61,417)
Disposals & — (2,928) — (36) — (2,964)
Transfers By — 350 1,234 (3) (1,581) —
Translation adjustments ERAE (5,697) (5,534) (274) (36) (191) (11,732)
Closing net book amount FREEFME 160,685 182,531 13,605 4,856 3,794 365,471
At 31st March, 2016 RZE—RF
=ZA=+—8
Cost XA 256,235 952,761 73,096 17,350 3,794 1,303,236
Accumulated depreciation and BNFERRE
impairment (95,550)  (770,230) (59,491)  (12,494) —  (937,765)
Net book amount REFE 160,685 182,531 13,605 4,856 3,794 365,471
Year ended 31st March, 2017 BE-_T—+F
“A=t+-ALLEE
Opening net book amount FNEEFE 160,685 182,531 13,605 4,856 3,794 365,471
Additions wE 3,479 37,598 9,552 3,608 5,116 59,353
Depreciation nE (9,927)  (38,481) (4,262) (1,488) — (54,158)
Disposals HE — (5,771) 1) (78) (1,413) (7,353)
Impairment HE — (10,000) — — — (10,000)
Transfers #zx 859 1,785 3) — (2,641) —
Translation adjustments EHRE (8,098) (7,844) (545) (191) (275 (16,953)
Closing net book amount FHRE@DFE 146,998 159,818 18,256 6,707 4,581 336,360
At 31st March, 2017 RZZ—t#F
=A=t+—-8H
Cost A 248,526 938,876 79,504 19,033 4,581 1,290,520
Accumulated depreciation and ZRtERME
impairment (101,528)  (779,058) (61,248)  (12,326) —  (954,160)
Net book amount REFE 146,998 159,818 18,256 6,707 4,581 336,360
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15

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

AN BRI

15 M% BERREE)

(a) Depreciation expense recognised in the consolidated (@) RIGARBRTERZITERS - oM
income statement is analysed as follows: N

2017 2016

—E—tfF —E-RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx T

Cost of sales 8 55 B A 48,250 56,182

Selling and distribution costs HERSHEM 334 355

General and administrative expenses — R RATHER X 5,574 4,880

54,158 61,417

(b)  Construction in progress mainly represents factories

and office buildings under construction and plant

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

(c) At 31st March, 2017, land and buildings with a total
net book value of approximately HK$2,889,000
(2016: HK$3,014,000) were pledged as collateral for

the Group’s banking facilities (Note 29).

(d)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

land use rights

The value of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights is assessed at the end of each
reporting period for indications of impairment with
reference to evaluation undertaken by management.
Such evaluation assesses the recoverable amount of
each asset being the higher of its value in use or its
fair value less costs of disposal. An impairment loss
of HK$10 million was made in 2017 (2016: HK$
Nil) for certain equipment used in Suzhou operation
(“Suzhou PP&E”) and has been recognised in the
consolidated income statement. As at 31st March
2017, the carrying amount of the property, plant
and equipment and land use rights in Suzhou
operation was HK$56 million (2016: HK$78 million).

by ERIRIEEETEHEZPNBER
MAEBTFMLEPOES -

© WRZZT—tF=ZA=+—H EEFAE
#92,889,0007% JT (= Z — /X 4F : 3,014,000
Bzt REFRERAEERITE
B & 2 MR (P 5E29) ©

d  BE BELKREBARIIOEREZR
=1

ME BELEBHEAR L MEHEZE
ERSREERAL2EEREMETZ
FEAFEELRENR - B ER
HREEZAWEER  MEEREE
FHARBEALEXNAZREE - 1
TELEFREMEBRERZE TR
BIHMDE BEEREREBDELRE
BE-TEEL(CZE-—RF 8)ILE
REARERER R-_FT—LF=A
=St H ®&MEBZDE BELR
BARLHEREZEEERET A
ERT(ZE-RFLTNBEEET °
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M- BERS&REE)
ME - BERRENRLIOE B2

15 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 15
(d)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment and (d)

land use rights (Continued)

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable

amount of Suzhou PP&E and land use rights are as

follows:

Sales growth rate in 2018: 6%
Sales growth rate from 2019 to 2022: 3%
Pre-tax discount rate: 13%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31 March, 2017, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of Suzhou
PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$4,026,000 lower. Accordingly, the shortfall
compared with the carrying amount of Suzhou
PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$14,003,000.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31 March, 2017 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
Suzhou PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$10,581,000 lower. Accordingly, the shortfall
compared with the carrying amount of Suzhou
PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$20,581,000.

1B (&)

FEAEFMDE  BERREIA R L E
REZAIKEEBMER FE2/RHKN
T

TE-N\FrHEEREX: 6%
TE-NEE_T-_Fy

HEERE: 3%
W B0 BT AR IR K ¢ 13%

REERERTEHRENMEAZH
BERHEMBREERREENZ
BEERRB)ARBEEATREEE -
R-E—+F=fA=1+—08 HEEE
ZHERERRERE ZHERI%M
FrBEEMEBERFETE - Q&M -
BMEREEARLWFEREZFRE
B #5 4,026,0007%8 7T B Lt - H2 g N
ME - - BELXEAR T EBEZE
EEAELL 2 5 R FE 1 414,003,000 7T ©

WL ERERENR =T —EF=A
=+ —RAZEER1%MmATA &R
B ABGNYE BERZENUR
T FERAEZFEREBRR R D
10,581,000/ 7T o FA Lt - B &R M ¥ %
MEREHEAR LEREZEEE
ML 2 52 /K B8 #% 420,581,000 7T ©
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16

Subsidiaries

16

Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2017:

Name of company

DAL

Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd.

Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands
Limited

Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Everfar Holdings Limited

Starlite Visual Communication Limited

EXRBREBERAF

Star Union Limited

EBHFRARA

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited
EEGHIEERAA

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy
Limited

Starlite Development International Limited

EXBEREKERAR

Starlite Paper Products Limited
ERARERAA

Starlite Printers Limited

EHRERIARRF

Place of incorporation
and/or operations

B
R/REEBY

British Virgin Islands
REERMARE

Cook Islands
Mrits

Singapore

%

Malaysia
BHRADE

British Virgin Islands
RBREBARES

Hong Kong
&8

Hong Kong
&8

British Virgin Islands
RBREBARES

British Virgin Islands
RBREBARES

Hong Kong
&8

Hong Kong
20

British Virgin Islands
RBEMREE

Hong Kong
20

Hong Kong/the PRC
BE/F

Hong Kong

7

Issued and fully paid

capital/paid-in capital
BRTRBERE

BHRA

Uss$2
2XTT

US$200
200% T

SGD8,759,396
8,759,39631 N 7T

RM6,500,000
6,500,000/5 2R 78 28 0

US$20,000
20,000 7T

HK$2,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T

HK$2
28T

Us$1
IE

Us$1
IE

HK$3,230,000 ordinary
3,230,0007%8 7T
L@ R AR 1D

HK$170,000 non-voting
deferred (i)
170,000/ 7T
ERERBILRR )

HK$200
2007 7T

Us$1
IEH

HK$200
2007 7T

HK$1,738,000 ordinary
1,738,000/ 7T
LABRRA

HK$262,000 non-voting
deferred (i)

262,000/ 7T
ERERELRNDG

HK$2,700,000 ordinary
2,700,0007% JT.
TR

HK$2,300,000
non-voting deferred (i)
2,300,0007% 7T
ERERBILRR )

B & AR

A M BRRME

RZZE—+E=A=+—H FENBAFAZ

EACE

Percentage of equity
interest held

MERER S
Directly  Indirectly
B CF:
100% —
100% —
100% —
100% —
50% 50%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%

Principal activities

TEER

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REEK

Printing of packaging materials and
roduction of paper products

p
BRI R A

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products

B EN R R M o A

Investment holding

RAEK

Distribution of Team Green Products
% #4Team GreenE &

Inactive

RAEE

Investment holding

RAEK

Investment holding

BRAEK

Inactive

RAEE

Provision of management services

RAE R RSB

Holding of trade and service marks

REESRRBAR

Trading of paper products
BEHRES

Production of paper products

BmEE

Printing and trading of packaging materials

BENHORRES
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DAER

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited
EXRER(RE)ERARA

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (ii)
EHENRICRIN) B B ARG

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)
B ENRI (B M) A BB A G

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited
Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions Limited

ENXAHFERAR

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental
Friendly Center, Limited (ii)
BN 2 R AR 0 B IR A A (i)

Greenworks International Limited

HETRBERERRE

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries
Company Limited (ii)
RN EAIE T ER DG

Larsemann Intelligence System
(Hong Kong) Limited
HEAESBRER(FE)ERAA

Team Green (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System
(Shenzhen) Limited (ii)
RIEALE 228 25 CRINDBER ARG

Shenzhen TeamGreen Creative Design
Co., Ltd (i)
RYIAR BRI E & H R ARG

Starlite International Marketing Services
Limited

Starlite International Development Limited

Notes:

Place of incorporation
and/or operations
R A
R/REELH

British Virgin Islands
HERPRRES

British Virgin Islands
RERPRRES

The PRC
FE

The PRC
i

British Virgin Islands
REERARE

British Virgin Islands
REERMARE

Hong Kong

The PRC
i

Hong Kong
0

The PRC
FE

Hong Kong
Eit

Singapore

EimiiE3

The PRC
i

The PRC
i

British Virgin Islands
REHEMRES

British Virgin Islands
REHEMRES

16

Issued and fully paid

capital/paid-in capital
ERTRBERE

"BBRE

Us$1
1%£7T

US$100
100% 7T

US$8,000,000
8,000,0003 7T

US$20,000,000
20,000,000 7T

Us$1
(ES

US$256,420
256,420 7T

HK$3,000,000
3,000,0007% 7T

US$6,000,000
6,000,000 7T

HK$2
28T

US$11,500,000
11,500,000 7T

HK$10,000
10,0007 7

SGD1
137 3% T

RMB5,000,000
A K #5,000,000

RMB500,000
AR #500,000

Us$1
IEH

Us$1
IEH

(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

(i) English names are for identification purpose. These subsidiaries were
incorporated as Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE”) in PRC.

(iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time
during the year ended 31st March, 2017 (2016: Nil).

B A = (&)

Percentage of equity
interest held

FiERERD L
Directly  Indirectly
HiE k3
— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

A M BRRME

Principal activities

TRER

Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding

RERK

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products

BEM R R Ao E

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products and labels

BEMBAORRARREHEEE

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REER

Inactive

R ER

Production of environmental friendly and
other paper products
EERREABHEER

Investment holding and trading of
environmental friendly and other paper
roducts

p
BRAZRERREAMKEERES

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products

BEME AR R mEE

Investment holding

REEK

Trading of Team Green products
Team Green EmE 5

Trading and manufacturing of machinery
and automated equipment

EEREERSREPLRE

Trading of Team Green products
Team GreenZE B E 5

Inactive

RAIEE

Inactive

RAIEE

(i) HEERZRETCROIFEAERES - LER
M ERER BRIEBBAA MR BB
50,000,000,000/ 7T * BRI AEAERZHRE M

BERRAE R -

THRBEZEEMADIKE  BRIFEFH

A A AR R R E H 2 9K 2 £150,000,000,000

BT °

(ii) RXEBRAUERD AL HEMBRARNRPEKL
ZOBBECE(HEBELED -

(iii) FEMBRRANRBE=F—
ERNEARBEEERTEEER(ZT—

4R H == B4R
7RO
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17 Available-for-sale financial assets 17 AHHEENBEE
2017 2016
—E-tF —E-RF
HK$000 HK$000
FEx FHET
Available-for-sale financial assets A EMBEE
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, — REBELTNERES
at fair value LAAREEYE 1,723 1,706
— Unlisted insurance policy investment, — FETHRBRERE
at fair value LAREEYE 8,913 8,650
10,636 10,356
Movement of the available-for-sale financial assets is as A EMBEAE 2ZEHMT
follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF AN
HK$000 HK$000
FERT FAET
As at 1st April mEA—A 10,356 10,221
Revaluation gains recognised in investment REAREERNER
revaluation reserve I &= 280 135
As at 31st March R=ZA=+—H 10,636 10,356
Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the A ENBEENTIEESE
following currencies:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—REF
HK$000 HK$000
FEx FHET
us$ ET 8,913 8,650
HK$ I 1,723 1,706
10,636 10,356
The fair values of unlisted insurance policy investment are FLTHREBREREN A A BERRAR
based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the R 4%&&”7%&%%1*?%%/&%5 HERBReR (=
current credit rate of the insurance policies (2017: 3.9%; —+tF:3.9%: ZT—RF:3.9%) 2ANE
2016: 3.9%). The fair values are within level 3 of the fair @Emﬁ@ﬁfgf BERNE=F (M 5£3.3) °
value hierarchy (Note 3.3).
None of these financial assets is either past due or hETBEEL MBHRERME -

impaired.
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18

19

Inventories

R
EEm
LK

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of
HK$633,587,000 (2016:
During the vyear, the Group has

sales amounted to
HK$686,717,000).
provided for inventory obsolescence of approximately
HK$933,000 (2016: HK$8,581,000), which was included in
cost of sales and as at 31st March, 2017, the amount of

provision was HK$23,355,000 (2016: HK$24,147,000).

As at 31st March, 2017, there were floating charges over
certain of the Group’s
HK$8,501,000 (2016: HK$16,278,000) to secure the trust

receipts import bank loan arrangements (Note 29).

inventories of approximately

Trade receivables, prepayments and deposits

Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment of trade

receivables

Trade receivables — net
Prepayments and deposits

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits approximate their fair values.

B 5 M YRR
B B B R FROR B B

AN BRI

18

19

BHRWERR — FHE
BNRBELREZES

EE
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—XF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FE T
60,739 53,731
25,451 25,415
31,917 33,694
118,107 112,840

FERAA H£49633,587,0008 L (ZF— /< F :
686,717,000/ 70) 5| EF ST W0 51| A SHE K AR ©
RAFER AEEHSHFEREREY
933,000/ T (= & — /X £ : 8,581,000 JT)
HEEEIWABEERAFR - HR_T—tF=A
=+ —H - ¥ % 3 523,3550008 0 (=%
— 7N F 124,147,000 7T) ©

RZE—+tHF=ZA=+—B A&EBEHME
8,501,000/ 7t (= F — /X 4F 1 16,278,000/ 7T.)
JHEERERVBENRTERLTHIIEAK
(P 5E29) ©

BESRWERN ANKERES

2017 2016

—EB—+tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHEx FHETT

252,424 230,862
(8,299) (12,608)

244,125 218,254

26,905 25,421

271,030 243,675

BEHEKER BNFRELRZRSOEREYD

HERHEQAREE -
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19

Trade receivables, prepayments and deposits
(Continued)

The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally
ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade

receivables by invoice date is as follows:

1 to 90 days 1290K

91 to 180 days 91£180K
181 to 365 days 181E2365K
Over 365 days B 18365K

As at 31st March, 2017, trade receivables of
HK$198,146,000 (2016: HK$167,822,000) were fully
performing. HK$45,979,000 (2016: HK$50,432,000) were
past due but not considered impaired, of which
HK$35,598,000 (2016: HK$41,127,000) were overdue less
than 90 days and HK$10,381,000 (2016: HK$9,305,000)
was overdue more than 90 days. These relate to a number
of independent customers for whom there is no recent
history of default. Trade receivables of HK$8,299,000
(2016: HK$12,608,000) were considered impaired and fully
provided for. The amount of the provision was
HK$8,299,000 as at 31st March, 2017 (2016:
HK$12,608,000).

The Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the

following currencies:

HK$ BT

uUs$ ETT

RMB AREE
SGD Ny T
RM BARFEETT
Others H

AN BRI

19 BSEWERR BAREREZS (&)

SEATEEEEHR —MAIOKENRIKRT
L -E9RBIRERF ZRE(REZA)MT:

2017 2016
—E—LF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER TR
199,580 186,786
34,708 24,141
5,926 6,671
12,210 13,264
252,424 230,862

RZE—tF=A=+—H8 BHEKER
198,146,000/ 7T (ZF —75 4 1 167,822,000/ 7T)
BEHESETT © 45,979,0008 T (ZF—7RF :
50,432,000/ 0) B @ B ER AR BRE - EF
4535,598,000/% 7T (=T — /X £ : 41,127,000/8
JL) B B 2 90K 5 40,381,000 T (=
T — N4 19,305,000 7o) # BI9OKR A k- E
MURIES ROR BN R R GRSk 2 R BU R ©

g 5 e U BR 318,299,000/ T(= & —

NE

12,608,000/ 7o) B BB (E & B 2 Si/E L B -
R+ HF=A=+—H0 BREEEA

8,299,000/ T ' (= & —
JT) ©

78 F 112,608,000/

AEBEZEBEHEREEFTATIEEDE:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
52,499 51,724
130,937 103,232
32,278 42,720
19,545 16,451
8,970 8,293

8,195 8,442
252,424 230,862
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19

20

Trade receivables, prepayments and deposits
(Continued)

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

As at Tst April mEA—H
Write-back of provision for impairment of

trade receivables

Receivables written off during the year as FARBEUE 2 &I
uncollectible AR AT 8H

Translation adjustment E R

As at 31 March W=A=+—H

The creation and release of the provision for impairment

of trade receivables have been included in general and

administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.
The other classes within trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned

above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

o)

19

Bank balances and cash

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months

from date of deposits

Maximum exposure to credit risk

20

RITRTFHERS
R HRTT 17 3K

RehkReEE
MERAREAEBEB=
Bz |ITER

Bt 35 8RR MY =

B 5 I8 WRR SRR 1 e [

ESEWERR AAREREZS (E)
BHRWET R ERE 2 ETHWT

2017 2016

—E—+tF A

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

12,608 15,667

(3,119) (1,722)

(897) (1,130)

(293) (207)

8,299 12,608

BHRWEFORERELDEGD N EA R
ﬁﬁﬁ—ﬁx&ﬁﬁ%ﬁiqﬂ)\ﬂﬁ °

REZFERWER BNRBELRZREPHHM
BHITABREEREEE -

REBEEEFABHERERNERSEERAR

HEREAAEBE A% lj[ﬂi?—rﬁffﬂﬁﬁ
BHEMA -
RITEFREAS
2017 2016
—E—tF T—RF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FET
250,334 283,865
—_ 27,706
250,334 311,571
@A
14,106 14,496
264,440 326,067
263,968 325,414
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20

AN BRI

Bank balances and cash (Continued) 20
As at 31st March, 2017, the effective interest rate on cash

at bank, short-term bank deposits was 0.3813% (2016:
0.0636%). The short-term bank deposits had an average
maturity of 6 months as at 31st March, 2017 (2016: 2.54
months).

Bank balances and cash were denominated in the
following currencies:

HK$ BT

RMB ARE

uss$ e

Euro B T

SGD TN T
Others HAt

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
RMB of approximately HK$75,587,000 (2016:
approximately HK$125,513,000) are deposited with banks

in the PRC. The conversion of these RMB denominated
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange
control rules and regulations promulgated by the
Government of The People’s Republic of China.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the
purposes of the statement of cash flows:

Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERRS
Short-term bank deposits EHRITER

RTEEFRRE ()

A
1

RZZB—tF=A=+—0 RTFH Y
RITFERZERN R FLE03BBE(ZE

—NF:0.0636F) WEEHRIFAR-E
—+tF =A==+ —HFHIHAAMEACZE
—NE254A) -

RITEFRRE DIEATEESE:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
68,443 86,140
77,418 128,323
63,222 62,021
11,388 5,316
29,629 34,560
14,340 9,707
264,440 326,067

AEEBUAREBIEBEZHS MR SEEY
75,587,000/ JT (=& — /X 4 : 49125,513,0007%8
TEERRFABEZRIT - §SARKETE 2
BMERIINERELRPEHAZREARKLM
B IR AT B 2 SNEE Bl R A R IR BIEEE -

RenB8XRPHRELRSEERETI:

2017 2016
—E—+tF AN
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
250,334 283,865

— 27,706

250,334 311,571
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AN BRI

Borrowings 21 ®E

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Long-term bank loans RHERITER 161,617 166,792
Short-term bank loans EEIRITER 15,805 27,552
Trust receipts import bank loans SRR ENRITER 8,501 16,278
185,923 210,622

Less: amounts due on demand or within one JA: ZI ARBBE Z EERKEE
year shown under current liabilities s —F A B H K EE (113,466) (175,153)
Non-current portion JERIER BB 15 72,457 35,469

At 31st March, 2017, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FNRN

Between 1 and 2 years —ZE_fF
Between 2 and 5 years —EZhEF
Over 5 years B A

The above amounts due are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore

the effect of any repayment on demand clause.

Total borrowings include secured liabilities. Details of the
banking facilities to the Group and pledge of assets are
disclosed in Note 29.

RZZB—tF=R=+—H XEEZHEZ
R E LA

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAET
93,138 124,907
62,517 41,390
30,268 42,555

— 1,770

185,923 210,622

FRAFRBZIHERREBEERGOD AL
EZEFRAH  RIATEEEEREEZ KGR

=7
TE -

RELBERRECERAE  AEENRTE
EHEABREEREENME29FHE -
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21 Borrowings (Continued)
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of

the year are as follows:

Bl
&

6 months or less 7~

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT

RMB AR
Us$ EV

RM BRFLE T
SGD N T

The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of

reporting period were as follows:

2017
—E-tF
HK$ RMB us$
BT AR® ES

Long-term bank loans & Hi iR 47 & 3k 3.19% — —
Short-term bank loans 52 i 77 & 3% —  4.69% —
Trust receipts import 1= 7 W% i R 1T

bank loans B 5.25% — 5.25%

Ak

AN BRI

21 BEE)
AEEZRARFREBREORAREE
BRANEFFEA BT -

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FHET

RN E A 185,923 210,622

RITHMEZREEIRATEREIIE:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
159,861 164,481
15,805 27,552
2,579 6,606

7,678 10,213

— 1,770

185,923 210,622

RBREERAZBRFENRMT :

2016
—E—RF
RM SGD HK$ RMB Us$ RM SGD
B T B AR EVH B T
4.55% — 2.95% — 4.55% 2.85%
— — — 5.41% — —
— — 4.46% — 5.33% — —
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22

Trade and bill payables

Trade payables
Bill payables

The ageing analysis of trade and

follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

B 5 AR

ENEE

bill payables is as

1£90K
91Z180K
181E= 365K
B iB365K

The Group’s trade and bill payables were denominated in

the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
US$
RM
Others

BT
AR
EY
BRI TT
H Al

AN BRI

22 BZEMAERERREE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-KRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET
131,093 136,659
245 1,101
131,338 137,760
HEOBRMERRRERREITOT
2017 2016
—E-tF —EF-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET
117,185 115,164
6,844 13,716
365 728
6,944 8,152
131,338 137,760

FEEZEHRNERRRBUATIIEHEFIE :

2017 2016
—E-+tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAET
37,201 44,094
78,847 79,739

915 1,496

9,485 8,832
4,890 3,599
131,338 137,760
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23

Deferred income tax 23 iﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax BREMSHEENEEFMEHRAENITOR:

liabilities is as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Deferred tax assets REMSHEE 5,620 3,967
Deferred tax liabilities BEMGHAE (6,264) (1,714)
Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets, net EEFREH(BE),
BE — ‘%% (644) 2,253
The net movements in the deferred tax account are as EEFSEH FE2EHFBET:
follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$000
FTET FET
As at Tst April 75A MmA—A 2,253 295
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated income M &R& Wz & (HK),FFA
statement (Note 11) (B 5E11) (2,564) 1,936
Translation adjustments E (333) 22
As at 31st March W=A=+—H (644) 2,253
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities BEMBHEERABZEZH (L RFTERR
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances — B E 2 AR ) T

within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:

Deferred tax assets: RIEFTEHAE:
Provisions Tax losses Total
BE HBEE waE
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—tf —T—RF ZE-tF T RF ZFB—tF —T—XF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FET FERT FET
As at Tst April EAE A—H 2,264 5,002 3,369 — 5,633 5,002
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated RiGAEWFRF
income statement A (FK) 1,361 (2,664) 2,226 3,273 3,587 609
Translation adjustments E R AR — (74) (333) 96 (333) 22
As at 31st March R=A=+—8 3,625 2,264 5,262 3,369 8,887 5,633
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AN BRI

Deferred income tax (Continued) ELEREHR (&)
Deferred tax liabilities: BEMBHAaRE:
Accelerated taxation
Withholding Tax depreciation Total
AREB InEB B E X
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
ZB—tF —T-RF ZB—tF —T—RF ZB—LF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET FEx FE&T FHT FET
As at st April ROUA—H — — 3,380 4,707 3,380 4,707
Charged/(credited) to the consolidated RiEakERP
income statement mne GEA) 5,968 — 183 (1,327) 6,151 (1,327)
Translation adjustments ER B — — — — — —
As at 31st March R=A=+—8H 5,968 — 3,563 3,380 9,531 3,380

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss to
the extent that the reduction of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is payable.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$61,332,000 (2016: HK$52,003,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$22,199,000
(2016: HK$18,270,000) in respect of tax losses that can be
carried forward indefinitely to set off against future taxable
income and the remaining tax losses of approximately
HK$23,533,000 (2016: HK$18,133,000) will expire in 2017
to 2021 (2016: 2016 to 2019). The estimated tax losses are

subject to approval by the relevant tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in the PRC to their foreign investors
starting from 1st January, 2008. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the
PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. All
dividends coming from the profits generated by the PRC
entities after 1st January, 2008 shall be subject to this

withholding income tax.

ERAREBARERV N ERB KA
@ e AENARREREEMEN
BE -

FRIEMEBHREETSWHER  NEEBWKRE
REANBEEIE RTINS R EEZAELTH
8 B & E 461,332,000 jT(= T — X &
52,003,000% jT) BB EH WK EELQ
22,199,000/ 7T (= Z — /X 4 : 18,270,0005% 7T)
A LA PR BR A S DA BE SR R IE R BIA » B84
% & 18 4923,533,00008 (= T — X &
18,133,000 L) @R T —tFE2 T - —
Fam(CE—AF T AFE-T—HLF)
HET BB IBEUARN G EH IS E RN ER -

RE_ZZLFT_ARBEMRHNPEARHK
MBEDERSHEEBREN  R-TTN\F—
H—RBF%  FA P B SE f 2 8R40
BEZED KRB ABRI0%TERZFFFH - 40
TEEFIRE T EEREZI NI ELY
—EARENRERASHEFEER - MER
TREXIACESR-EENF-A-BER
BeFENRE AR TRIRMEN

143



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %% & Bt 75 3R 3 Fff &%

24 Share capital 24 BRAE
2017 2016
—E—+F A
Number Number
of shares of shares
RHHE & 17 8B
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$000
TR FER TR FHT
Authorised: VETE IR
Ordinary shares of FREE0.10/8
HK$0.10 each TC 2 &R 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TER 2BTRE#RE:
Number Share
of shares capital
K& #E B
HK$’000
TET
As at Tst April, 2015, 31st March, 2016 and HRZ=ZZT—HFMNA—H
31st March, 2017 —E-RFE=ZA=+—HK
—E—+F=A=+—H 525,135,288 52,514




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25

Employee share options

On 15th August, 2012, the Company adopted an employee
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) to
replace the old share option scheme adopted on 6th
September, 2002. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options to employees (including
Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors (excluding
Independent Non-Executive Directors) of the Company) to
subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time excluding for
this purpose any shares issued on the exercise of options.
The exercise price will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and shall be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant of the options, (ii) an average closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options, and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares of HK$0.1 each.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to

repurchase or settle the options in cash.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31st
March, 2017 and 2016. No share options were outstanding
as at 31st March, 2017 and 2016.

AN BRI

25

EEBRE

RZE-—ZFNA+TEH ARAHEHK—ES
BRETI(BREFSHDABRRR_FTTZ
FAARNBRMZERBRES - REBK
BABARRAMEL(BEARFZRITE
ERFATEETTEREBILIATER)R
HEBREARBARR KD - MAl #1722 KRH
KREZRARBARFDEHITRMNZ30% B
SAERTEEREMBETZEND - RBER
ARBZEEREE  EAATERUT=ZEZ
REE RBEHBHARRA B2 W E : i)
ARBRONERRL AR AEEERZK
T E G AR KDz EEES
PRo.ETT) e AL B BIEF K TEBEEDE
SNBSS FEARE -

Rt ER-E-RF=ZA=+—HILF
ER - TEELEEMERE R-T—tFRk
TE-REFZAZT-BUEERARITENBR
T e
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AN BRI

Reserves 26 f#fE
Share Capital Statutory Investment Translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
ROBRE BAXARFE ZERE RERE EHLiFHE REEA B
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET FET FET FET FHET
As at 1st April, 2015 R-ZE—REMA—A 127,796 1,792 — 1,417 60,219 293,205 484,429
Comprehensive income 2HEKHE
Profit attributable to the owners of RRBEE A HF
the Company — — — — — 68,112 68,112
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 HE K
Increase in fair value of AHHEMBEEZRR
available-for-sale financial assets Bl — — — 135 — — 135
Currency translation differences ERER — — — — (10,106) (10,106)
Total comprehensive income for FREEKHEAR
the year — — — 135 (10,106) 68,112 58,141
Transactions with the owners in their BEAUEEAFHH
capacity as owners x5
Dividends paid B E — — — — — (5,251) (5,251)
— — — 135 (10,106) 62,861 52,890
As at 31st March, 2016
127,796 1,792 — 1,552 50,113 356,066 537,319
Representing: [ -3
— Proposed dividend — RS — — — — — 7,877 7,877
— Others — Hip 127,796 1,792 — 1,552 50,113 348,189 529,442
As at 31st March, 2016
127,796 1,792 — 1,552 50,113 356,066 537,319
As at 31st March, 2016 and R-ZZE—RX
1st April, 2016
127,796 1,792 — 1,552 50,113 356,066 537,319
Comprehensive income
Loss attributable to the owners of ARAEEANELEE
the Company — — — — — (9,184) (9,184)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2 m K &=
Increase in fair value of AHHEMBEEZ
available-for-sale financial assets R EEEN — — — 280 — — 280
Currency translation differences EHER — — — — (23,904) — (23,904)
Total comprehensive loss for FANREBIRBE
the year — — — 280 (23,904) (9,184) (32,808)
Transactions with the owners in their EAEAUEEA S HH
capacity as owners x5
Transfer to statutory reserve BB ATRE — — 12,160 — — (12,160) —
Dividends paid B RS — — — — — (13,128)  (13,128)
— — 12,160 280 (23,904) (34,472) (45,936)
As at 31st March, 2017 R-ZE—+t4F
—A=+-—8 127,796 1,792 12,160 1,832 26,209 321,594 491,383

Note:

As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations applicable to
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC, the
subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after tax
(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The PRC
entities are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit as
determined under the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to their
statutory reserve. The appropriations to the statutory reserve are
required until the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior year
losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares. The Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of
their reserve either in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

BRERARARTRFERLEEENHB AR NP

BUEBIRERBTE - FREMBARRRBERERT (B
EHAMFEENBR) 2IREEERE - HEPEL
XFRRTENEARUERABRROFFNBZ
W% EXERFRE BEEDREEZEHBEMBE AR
) S D& AR B950% © Uk 0% 5E R 18 AT A 85 A B 4
BB B o A LA B AT AT R o AN )R AR B AR SZ B Y B
REANBE EEXERFAIRFHREREREZR

il o
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 27 HmEBREREXRKE
flows
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (a) MEATRF EEEERELIR S 2 HER:

generated from operations:

2017 2016
—E-tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT THET
Profit before income tax B % A1 v K 13,393 92,631
Adjustments for: AR
— Interest income — MBI A (350) (356)
— Interest expense — FEXH 7,579 9,603
— Amortisation of land use rights — T b AR
(Note 14) (B 5E14) 711 744
— Depreciation of property, plant and — ¥ BEEZREZ
equipment (Note 15) 1 & (B 5E15) 54,158 61,417
— Losses on disposals of property, — HEWE BELERE
plant and equipment (Note 27(b)) Z B 18 (M 5£27(b) 4,569 2,354
— Write-back of provision for — B R FORE
impairment of trade receivables & 15 [0 #% (3,119) (1,722)
— Provision for inventory obsolescence ~ — FRE&ETF & G B & 933 8,581
— Provision for impairment of property, —— 1% « BEKZEN
plant and equipment BB B 10,000 —
— Net exchange differences — EREEFER 4,872) 1,318
83,002 174,570
Changes in working capital (excluding EEEREY
effects of translation adjustments) (TERERLRENTE)
— Inventories — FE (6,200) (14,221)
— Trade receivables — BFEWEXR (22,752) 43,381
— Prepayments and deposits — ENRERRS (1,484) (5,735)
— Trade and bill payables — BOENERNERE (6,422) (2,653)
— Accruals and other payables — EEtEEREMEMNK 20,805 19,556
— Deferred revenue — R A 311) 1,768

Cash generated from operations REXBEEZRS 66,638 216,666
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

flows (Continued)

(b)

In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from

AN BRI

27 HERERERMNE(E)

by REASREXZAN HEVE BELR

disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: B2 Pris AR :
2017 2016
—E-tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TEL
Net book value REFE 7,353 2,964
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEWE - B FE L& EZ
equipment (Note 6) &5 18 (P 5% 6) (4,569) (2,354)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant HE¥ % - B FE k&E 2
and equipment Frig A 2,784 610
28 Commitment 28 A
(@) Capital commitments (@ EXREE
Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of REBRBEERBETNENRGTA
reporting period contracted but not yet incurred is ZERRZ AT
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—LF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER TETT
Machinery 1 23 4,896 1,484
Computer system, equipment and BREL  REREE
renovation 3,679 2,126
8,575 3,610
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) fEEHEERE

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of

land and buildings, as follows:

AEERBAAZH AR L EET
KEBREZ RRREHEMNKERENT

2017 2016
—E—+tF AN
HK$’000 HK$000
FTHERT TET
Amounts payable 5 RCER

— within one year — —FHURA 7,555 9,035

— later than one year but no later than — BB —FETHEBERF
five years 12,534 —
20,089 9,035

Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for

terms of 1 to 4 years.

AEBMELHEFH - RA—ZWF -
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29

30

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$355,531,000 (2016:
HK$366,095,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing and
bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same date
amounted to approximately HK$161,821,000 (2016:
HK$149,444,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings with
a total net book value of approximately
HK$2,889,000 (2016: HK$3,014,000) (Note 15(c));

(i) floating charges over the Group’s inventories held
under trust receipts import bank loan arrangements
of approximately HK$8,501,000 (2016:
HK$16,278,000) (Note 18); and

(i) guarantees provided by the Company and certain of

its subsidiaries.

Related party transactions

As at 31st March, 2017, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu beneficially
owned approximately 36.93% of the Company’s ordinary
shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially owned approximately
17.11% of the Company’s ordinary shares. Both Mr. Lam

and Ms. Yeung are directors of the Company.

(@ In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the following

transactions were carried out with related parties:

AN BRI

29 RITEEEREEERF

RZZE—+F=ZA=+—H AEBEERE>
FEX BER BHBMAEAMRITERSTRITE
B # ¥ #355,531,000% (= T — X F:
366,095,000 7T) - REHMKRE A 2 RITE
B % #161,821,000%8 (= T — X F:
149,444,000 7T) - WHRITEEE 2 ER W
T

i AEBEIHREFES HEERFME
#92,889,0007% 7T (=% — 7N FF 3,014,000
7 70) (M 3E15()

(i AEBZRERWEEDRITERZHER

BAZETFEH#S,501,0008 (=%
— <4 116,278,000 70) (it 5518) + I

(i) ARFRHEETHERRMMRMEZER -

all

30 BEALIZRS
RZE—+tHFZA=+—8 MxmEEHE
ARATKB6.93%EBBBMN - HBRELZLTHF
BEARRTN7N%H L BRAARG  MEE RS
REZ AN REARBESE -

@ BERENUBHRREMIEOHIN  THE
HEEALTETZIRS:

2017 2016
—E—+F A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER T
Operating lease rentals expenses KEHERSER
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note (i) — BRI (WEG) 76 72

Note (i):  The Group entered into an operating lease agreement
with Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of the Company. The
transaction was carried out in the usual course of
business, and in accordance with the terms of the
contract entered into by the Group and the related

party.

MiEEG): AEMEBERZL ARFAZEF IE
REMEHGS  LRARXFHR-REBR
B RIBAEEEREALEITERZF
T ©
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30 Related party transactions (Continued)

31

(b) Key management compensation

Basic salaries, allowances and others
Discretionary bonus
Pension costs — defined contribution

plans

Financial instruments by category

Financial assets

Loans and receivables:

Trade receivables (Note 19)

Deposits

Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits (Note 20)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20)

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Listed equity securities (Note 17)
Unlisted insurance policy investment

(Note 17)

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and bill payables (Note 22)

Accruals and other payables

Borrowings (Note 21)

30 BEATZXRZ(E)
by FTEEBEAEHMLSEN

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—XEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
EXEE  FMREM 9,851 9,250
BHREZEL 1,992 656
RIKEE A — FE kG 8l
190 179
12,033 10,085
31 SWMIBERERED
2017 2016
—E—t & —E—XREF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T FE T
MEEE
B REWK
B 5 1 W AR 5% (Bt 3E19) 244,125 218,254
& 10,875 8,023
mERARBTERBBE=EA
B H 7 R 1777 (B 3% 20) 14,106 14,496
B & RIE L EE (M 20 250,334 311,571
519,440 552,344
A ER S EE -
EzEEESME17) 1,723 1,706
LT REBREERE
(P 5£17) 8,913 8,650
10,636 10,356
530,076 562,700
HEaE
E B 75 B & a5 K
BoRNEXREERE (M5E22) 131,338 137,760
FERTBE R E RN 70,915 73,854
B E (M 5E21) 185,923 210,622
388,176 422,236
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32

AN BRI

Statement of financial position and movement 32 ZFRARZHMBMRRRREEEH

of reserve of the Company

(@

Statement of financial position of the
Company

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in and amounts due from

subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments and deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company

Share capital

Reserves (Note 32(b))

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

@ AXFZHBRRE

BE

FRBEE

RHBRAR ZERE R
& U R AR

RBEE
BNREBELREZES
RekReEE

BEEHHR

i
ERBREEAELERS

e 7R
ffi 188 (B 7E32(b))

R 48 5R

=81

REEE

R AE R E M RN R
JRE A B /B8 2 ) 3R IR
BERAH

Rk EEAE

As at 31st March,

R=B=+-—H
2017 2016
—E—+tF TN
HK$'000 HK$/000
FET FAET
225,922 248,585
225,922 248,585
1,030 856
1,082 440
2,112 1,296
228,034 249,881
52,514 52,514
148,516 158,642
201,030 211,156
1,784 1,260
25,220 37,465
27,004 38,725
228,034 249,881

151



152

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 Statement of financial position and movement
of reserve of the Company (Continued)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company
The changes in the reserves of the Company during
the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016 are as

AN BRI

32 FARTRzHBRRERRRZEEE(E)

(b) FRAZREELEH
RAARRZBE—+F=ZA=+—BK=
F-AELHRLDAT

follows:
Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
i griai| BEXRRE R B i A B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET FET TET
As at 1st April, 2015 RZT—RF
mA—HR 127,796 520 27,598 155,914
Profit for the year FRE F — — 7,979 7,979
Dividends paid ERRE — — (5,251) (5,251)
As at 31st March, 2016 RZZE—RF
=A=+—H 127,796 520 30,326 158,642
Representing: &
— Proposed dividend — BOR AR — — 7,877 7,877
— Others — Hit 127,796 520 22,449 150,765
127,796 520 30,326 158,642
As at 1st April, 2016 MZE—=R
MmA—HR 127,796 520 30,326 158,642
Profit for the year F N g A — — 3,002 3,002
Dividends paid AT A% B — — (13,128) (13,128)
As at 31st March, 2017 RZE—tF
=A=+—H 127,796 520 20,200 148,516
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